



Benoît Cadorel, Frédéric Campana, & Erwan Rousseau Hyperbolicity and specialness of symmetric powers Tome 9 (2022), p. 381-430.

<a>http://jep.centre-mersenne.org/item/JEP_2022__9__381_0>

© Les auteurs, 2022. *Certains droits réservés.*

Cet article est mis à disposition selon les termes de la licence LICENCE INTERNATIONALE D'ATTRIBUTION CREATIVE COMMONS BY 4.0. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

L'accès aux articles de la revue « Journal de l'École polytechnique — Mathématiques » (http://jep.centre-mersenne.org/), implique l'accord avec les conditions générales d'utilisation (http://jep.centre-mersenne.org/legal/).

Publié avec le soutien du Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique



Publication membre du Centre Mersenne pour l'édition scientifique ouverte www.centre-mersenne.org Tome 9, 2022, p. 381–430

Journal de l'École polytechnique *Mathématiques* DOI: 10.5802/jep.185

HYPERBOLICITY AND SPECIALNESS OF SYMMETRIC POWERS

by Benoît Cadorel, Frédéric Campana & Erwan Rousseau

ABSTRACT. — Inspired by the computation of the Kodaira dimension of symmetric powers X_m of a complex projective variety X of dimension $n \ge 2$ by Arapura and Archava, we study their analytic and algebraic hyperbolicity properties. First, we show that some (or equivalently any) X_m is rationally connected (resp. special) if and only if so is X (except when the core of X is a curve in the case of specialness). Then we construct dense entire curves in (sufficiently high) symmetric powers of K3 surfaces and product of curves. We also give a criterion based on the positivity of jet differentials bundles that implies pseudo-hyperbolicity of symmetric powers of generic projective hypersurfaces of sufficiently high degree. On the algebraic side, we give a criterion implying that subvarieties of codimension $\leq n - 2$ of symmetric powers are of general type. This applies in particular to varieties with ample cotangent bundles. Finally, we use a metric approach to study symmetric powers of ball quotients.

Résumé (Produits symétriques de type hyperbolique et spécial). — Partant du calcul de la dimension de Kodaira des produits symétriques X_m d'une variété projective complexe X de dimension $n \ge 2$ par Arapura et Archava, nous étudions leurs propriétés analytiques et algébriques. Tout d'abord, nous montrons qu'un (ou de manière équivalente tout) X_m est rationnellement connexe (resp. spécial) si et seulement si X l'est (sauf lorsque le cœur de X est une courbe dans le cas spécial). Ensuite nous construisons des courbes entières denses dans les produits (suffisamment grands) de surfaces K3 et des produits de courbes. Nous donnons également un critère fondé sur la positivité des fibrés de différentielles de jets qui implique la pseudo-hyperbolicité des produits symétriques. Comme application, nous établissons l'hyperbolicité au sens de Kobayashi des produits symétriques des hypersurfaces projectives génériques de degré suffisamment grand. Du côté algébrique, nous donnons un critère impliquant que les sous-variétés de codimension $\leq n - 2$ des produits symétriques sont de type général. Il s'applique en particulier aux variétés à cotangent ample. Finalement, nous utilisons une approche métrique pour l'étude des produits symétriques des quotients de la boule.

Contents

1.	Introduction	382
2.	Notation and conventions	387

MATHEMATICAL SUBJECT CLASSIFICATION (2020). - 14J15, 32Q45.

 $K_{EYWORDS.}$ — Green-Griffiths-Lang conjectures, complex hyperbolic varieties, special varieties, symmetric products.

E.R. was partially supported by the ANR project "FOLIAGE", ANR-16-CE40-0008.

e-ISSN: 2270-518X

http://jep.centre-mersenne.org/

B. CADOREL, F. CAMPANA & E. ROUSSEAU

Part 1. Specialness of symmetric powers	389
3. Special varieties	389
4. Canonical fibrations	392
5. Dense entire curves in symmetric powers	398
Part 2. Hyperbolicity of symmetric powers	402
6. A remark on the Kobayashi pseudometric	402
7. Jet differentials over symmetric powers	
8. Higher dimensional subvarieties	
9. Metric methods	416
References	

1. INTRODUCTION

For any smooth complex projective variety X with $n = \dim X \ge 2$, and an integer $m \ge 1$, let X_m be the its *m*-th symmetric power, defined as the quotient of the product X^m of *m* copies of X by the *m*-th symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_m acting by permutation of the factors. It is shown in [AA03] that under our assumption that $n \ge 2$, the singularities of X_m are canonical; this implies that if $k = \kappa(X)$ is the Kodaira dimension of X, then the Kodaira dimension of any smooth model of X_m is equal to mk. In particular, X is of general type, i.e., k = n, if and only if X_m and its smooth models are of general type, i.e., $\kappa(X_m) = nm$. Now, the Green-Griffiths-Lang conjecture claims that a given variety is of general type if and only if it satisfies strong hyperbolicity properties with respect to entire curves or rational points:

CONJECTURE 1.1 (Green-Griffiths [GG80], Lang [Lan87], see also [Dem12, Lan91])

Let X be a smooth complex projective variety. Then the following are equivalent: (1) X is of general type;

(2) X is pseudo-hyperbolic i.e., there exists a proper algebraic subset $Z \subsetneq X$ that contains the images of all entire curves, that is, all holomorphic non-constant maps $f : \mathbb{C} \to X$;

(3) if X is defined over a finitely generated field of characteristic zero k, then X is pseudo-arithmetically hyperbolic i.e., there exists a proper algebraic subset $Z \subsetneq X$ such that $X \smallsetminus Z$ contains finitely many K-rational points for any finite extension K/k.

Note that the three properties appearing in Conjecture 1.1 are birationally invariant among smooth projective varieties. In view of the main result of [AA03], this conjecture implies that a symmetric power of a variety of general type and of dimension higher than 2, should also be pseudo-hyperbolic. More precisely, the following conjecture should be true.

Conjecture 1.2. — Let X be a complex projective variety with $n = \dim X \ge 2$. Then X is pseudo-hyperbolic if and only if X_m is pseudo-hyperbolic for some, or any, $m \ge 1$.

382

Note that it is not necessary to ask for X to be smooth in the previous conjecture, since pseudo-hyperbolicity is an invariant property by resolution of singularities. Remark also that if X_m is pseudo-hyperbolic for some m, so is X^m , and thus X, so the interesting question is to show that X_m is pseudo-hyperbolic if X is.

The second author has proposed generalizations of the Green-Griffiths-Lang conjectures to any X based on the *specialness* property and the associated core fibration. Special varieties are opposite to varieties of general type in the following sense: they do not admit any fibration with (orbifold) base of general type, or equivalently their core is of dimension 0 (see Section 3, and [Cam04] for details on special varieties and the core map). Conjecturally, special varieties should satisfy exact opposites of the last two points of Conjecture 1.1:

Conjecture 1.3 ([Cam04]). — Let X be a complex smooth projective variety. The following are equivalent:

(1) X is special;

(2) X admits Zariski dense entire curves;

(3) there exists a finitely generated subfield $K \subset \mathbb{C}$ and a model \mathscr{X} of X over K such that $\mathscr{X}(K)$ is Zariski dense in X.

Our first goal will be to study the counterpart of Conjecture 1.2 for the specialness property. Accordingly, we were able to derive the following result concerning the specialness of symmetric powers from a study of the canonical fibrations of these varieties (see Section 4):

THEOREM 1. — Let X be a complex smooth projective variety of dimension $n \ge 2$. If X is special then so is X_m for any m > 0. Conversely, if X_m is special for some m > 0 then either X is special, or the core of X is an orbifold curve of general type of genus at most m.

Theorem 1 follows from Theorem 12, Theorem 13, and Corollary 4.7 proved in Section 4 below. We give there, more generally, a description of the core map of X_m in terms of the core map of X.

Basic examples of special manifolds are those which are either rationally connected, or with zero Kodaira dimension, generalizing rational and elliptic curves respectively. The Kodaira dimension vanishes for X if and only if the same holds for some (or any) X_m when dim $X \ge 2$. Similarly:

THEOREM 2. — A smooth complex projective variety X with dim $X \ge 2$ is rationally connected if so is some (or all) X_m .

Theorem 2 will be obtained as a byproduct of our more precise Corollary 4.3 in Section 4. In view of Conjecture 1.3, this result implies that one should expect corresponding anti-hyperbolicity properties for their symmetric powers. The arithmetic version has already been studied in [HT00b] where the authors prove potential density of rational points in the g-th symmetric power of generic K3 surfaces of degree g. B. CADOREL, F. CAMPANA & E. ROUSSEAU

In this article, we will focus on the analytic part, showing that these symmetric powers contain *dense entire curves*, and are even dominated by \mathbb{C}^{2g} (see Theorem 15).

In the case of products of curves, we can also obtain the following result:

THEOREM 3. — Let G and C be projective smooth curves of genus $g(G) \leq 1$ and g(C) > 1, and let $S = G \times C$. Then $m \geq g(C)$ if and only if S_m contains dense entire curves.

Note that $m \ge g(C)$ exactly means that S_m is special; this result will be obtained as our Theorem 14 in Section 5. As recently observed in a manuscript sent to us by A. Levin [Lev], such symmetric powers provide negative answers to puncturing problems as formulated by Hassett and Tschinkel in [HT01] in the arithmetic and geometric setting, and which can be stated in the analytic setting as follows.

PROBLEM 1.4 (Analytic puncturing problem). — Let X be a projective variety with canonical singularities and let Z be a subvariety of codimension at least 2. Assume that there are Zariski dense entire curves on X. Is there a Zariski dense entire curve on $X \setminus Z$?

In the situation of Theorem 3, considering the small diagonal $Z := \Delta_m \subset S_m$ one easily sees (in Remark 5.2) that Zariski dense entire curves cannot avoid Z, giving a negative answer to this problem. Notice however that no counter-example to the analytic or arithmetic puncturing problem is known or possibly expected when X is smooth. The intermediate case of terminal singularities seems also to be open.

In the second part of the present paper, we study hyperbolicity properties of symmetric powers. Conjecture 1.2 actually looks quite difficult to solve in full generality; we chose to focus on the following particular case which seems already interesting and nontrivial.

PROBLEM 1.5. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety with dim $X \ge 2$, and let $m \ge 2$. Assume Ω_X is ample. Show that any X_m is pseudo-hyperbolic.

We provide partial answers to this problem by considering instead of Ω_X the more general jet differentials bundles $E_{k,r}^{GG}\Omega_X$: the sections of the latter correspond to algebraic differential equations, or equivalently to sections of lines bundles on the jet spaces $\pi_k : X_k^{GG} \to X$ (see Section 2.3 and [Dem97a] for an introduction to these objects). First, we establish a criterion which ensures strong algebraic degeneracy of entire curves in symmetric powers, meaning that the Zariski closure of the union of entire curves, known as the exceptional set $\text{Exc}(X_m)$, is a proper subvariety.

THEOREM 4. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety. Let A be a very ample line bundle on X. Let $Z \subsetneq X$, and $k, r, d \in \mathbb{N}^*$. We make the following hypotheses.

(1) Assume that

Bs $(H^0(X, E_{k,r}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_X \otimes \mathscr{O}(-dA))) \subset X_k^{\mathrm{GG},\mathrm{sing}} \cup \pi_k^{-1}(Z).$

(2) Assume that d/r > 2m(m-1).

Then $\operatorname{Exc}(X_m) \neq X_m$.

J.É.P. — M., 2022, tome 9

In fact, there is a precise description of a proper subvariety containing the exceptional locus (see Theorem 16 for details). Our criterion applies to a lot of situations where the Green-Griffiths jet bundles are known to be sufficiently positive to satisfy the assumption of the base locus in Theorem 4. Thanks to all the recent work around the Kobayashi conjecture [Bro17, Den17, Den20, RY22, BK19], we know that this applies in particular to generic hypersurfaces of high degree in $\mathbb{P}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{C}}$:

THEOREM 5. — Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{C}}$ be a generic hypersurface of degree $d \ge 1$. Let $m \ge 1$ an integer satisfying:

$$d \ge (2n-1)^5 (2m^2 + 10n - 1).$$

The m-th symmetric power X_m of X is then hyperbolic.

This result will be obtained in Corollary 7.9. Getting back to the general case of a smooth complex projective variety X of dimension n, we establish in Section 8 a criterion ensuring that any subvariety $V \subset X_m$ of codim $V \leq n-2$ is of general type (see Theorem 20). This permits to construct manifolds satisfying a weak version of algebraic intermediate hyperbolicity: following the terminology of Lang introduced in [Lan91], we will say that a projective complex variety X is pseudo-k-canonical if there exists an algebraic locus $Z \subsetneq X$ such that all subvarieties $V \subset X$ with dim $V \geq k$ and $V \not\subset Z$ are of general type.

Applying our criterion to varieties with ample cotangent bundle then yields the following:

THEOREM 6. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety with $n = \dim X \ge 2$, and let $m \ge 1$ be an integer. Assume Ω_X is ample. Then, X_m is pseudo-(n(m-1)+2)canonical: more precisely, any subvariety $V \subseteq X_m$ such that codim $V \le n-2$ and $V \not\subset X_m^{\text{sing}}$ is of general type.

If we believe in the Green-Griffiths-Lang conjecture 1.1, this theorem implies that $\operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Exc}(X_m) \ge n-1$ for complex manifolds with Ω_X ample, thus giving in principle a strong restriction on the exceptional locus that can appear in Problem 1.5. We refer to [EJR21] for a discussion of a stronger notion of intermediate algebraic hyperbolicity, and related results.

The previous theorem already permits to obtain several geometric restrictions on the exceptional locus of rational curves or subvarieties with trivial canonical bundle in X_m . We obtain in particular the following result (see the more precise Corollary 8.8 and the subsequent discussion):

COROLLARY 1.6. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety of dimension $n \ge 2$, and assume that Ω_X is ample. Then, there exist countably many proper algebraic subsets $V_k \subsetneq X_m$ ($k \in \mathbb{N}$) such that $\operatorname{codim}_{X_m}(V_k) \ge n-1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and whose union contains all the images of \mathbb{P}^1 or any projective manifold with trivial canonical bundle. B. CADOREL, F. CAMPANA & E. ROUSSEAU

We also obtain genus estimates for curves lying on X in the spirit of [AA03, Cor. 4]. If $Y \subset X$ is a closed smooth subvariety, we say that a generic point $[y_1, \ldots, y_\ell, x_1, \ldots, x_{d-\ell}] \in Y_\ell \times X_{d-\ell}$ lies on an irreducible curve with genus gnormalization if there exist $\mathscr{C} \to V$ a family of smooth projective curves of genus gand a morphism $f : \mathscr{C} \to X$ which is generically one-to-one on the fibers \mathscr{C}_t , such that the image Z of $Y_\ell \times X_{d-\ell} \to X_d$ is dominated by the image of $S^d f : S^d \mathscr{C} \to X_d$.

COROLLARY 1.7. — Assume Ω_X is ample, and let $Y \subset X$ be a closed smooth subvariety. Let $1 \leq \ell \leq d$ be integers. Assume that for a generic point $[y_1, \ldots, y_\ell, x_1, \ldots, x_{d-\ell}] \in Y_\ell \times X_{d-\ell}$, there exists a curve of geometric genus g in X such that all x_i and y_j lie in C. Then if

 $\ell \cdot \operatorname{codim} Y \leqslant \dim X - 2,$

we have g > d.

This result will be proved in Corollary 8.10. Finally, in Section 9, we give a criterion for hyperbolicity in terms of the existence of a suitable negatively curved metric; this criterion applies in particular to symmetric powers of quotient of bounded symmetric domains. As an application, we obtain a hyperbolicity theorem for symmetric products of ball quotients. Before stating it, recall that given a torsion-free lattice with unipotent parabolic elements $\Gamma \subset \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{B}^n)$ $(n \in \mathbb{N})$, Mok has given a general construction of *smooth minimal compactification* \overline{X} of the quotient $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathbb{B}^n$ (see [Mok12]). The manifold \overline{X} is obtained from X by adding to it a finite union of abelian varieties, forming a boundary divisor D.

In the statement of the theorem (which will be proved as Corollary 9.8), we make use of the following notation: if $W \subset X$ is a subvariety of a variety X, and if $1 \leq i \leq m$ are integers, we let $\mathfrak{d}_i(W) = \{[x_1, \ldots, x_m] \in X_m | x_1, \ldots, x_i \in W\} \subset X_m$ (see our notation in Section 2.1).

THEOREM 7. — Let $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathbb{B}^n$ be a ball quotient by a torsion free lattice with only unipotent parabolic elements, and let $\overline{X} = X \cup D$ be a smooth minimal compactification. Let $m \ge 1$. Then :

(a) Let $V \subset \overline{X}_m$ be a subvariety with codim $V \leq n-6$ and $V \not\subset \mathfrak{d}_1(D) \cup (\overline{X}_m)_{\text{sing}}$. Then V is of general type.

(b) Let $p \ge n(m-1) + 6$, and $f : \mathbb{C}^p \to \overline{X}_m$ be a holomorphic map such that $f(\mathbb{C}^p) \not\subset \mathfrak{d}_1(D) \cup (\overline{X}_m)_{\text{sing}}$. Then $\operatorname{Jac}(f)$ is identically degenerate.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we collect some preliminary definitions and properties of symmetric powers and jet differentials. In Section 3 we recall the basic definitions and constructions related to special varieties. In Section 4 we prove Theorem 1 and Theorem 2. In Section 5 we prove Theorem 3. In Section 6 we state some basic facts on Kobayashi hyperbolicity of symmetric powers. In Section 7 we prove Theorem 4 and Theorem 5. In Section 8 we prove Theorem 6, Corollary 1.6 and Corollary 1.7. Finally, in Section 9 we prove Theorem 7.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

386

Acknowledgements. — The authors would like to thank Ariyan Javanpeykar for very interesting discussions about several themes of this paper. They also thank Aaron Levin for sharing with them his paper on puncturing problems. We also thank D. Markushevich, J.-L. Colliot-Thélène and V. Popov for informative exchanges relative to Jacobian fibrations and rationality of quotients by linear actions respectively.

2. Notation and conventions

We introduce here some notation pertaining to symmetric powers of varieties, that we will use in the entirety of the article.

2.1. Symmetric powers. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety.

(1) For any $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we will denote by $X_m = \mathfrak{S}_m \setminus X^m$ the *m*-th symmetric power of X. We let $q: X^m \to X_m$ be the natural projection. Elements of X_m will be denoted by $[x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_m]$ (where $(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in X^m$). Also, if $s > 0, m_1, \ldots, m_s$ are positive integers such that $\sum_i m_i = m$, and $x_1, \ldots, x_s \in X$ are pairwise distinct, we write $[x_1^{m_1}, \ldots, x_s^{m_s}] \coloneqq [x_1, \ldots, x_1, \ldots, x_s, \ldots, x_s]$, where each x_i is repeated m_i times, for $i = 1, \ldots, s$.

(2) For any $V \subset X$ and any $i \in [\![1,m]\!]$, where $[\![a,b]\!] = \{a, a+1, \ldots, b\}$ for integers $a \leq b$, we define $\mathfrak{d}_i(V)$ as the projection of $V^i \times X^{m-i} \subset X^m$ in X_m . This is the set of elements $[x_1, \ldots, x_m] \in X_m$ with *i* components inside *V*.

(3) For any $i \in [\![1,m]\!]$, we let $\mathfrak{D}_i(X_m) = \{[x_1,\ldots,x_m] \in X_m \mid x_1 = \cdots = x_i\}$ be the *i*-th diagonal locus. Note that codim $\mathfrak{D}_i(X_m) = n(i-1)$.

(4) For any divisor A on X, we will denote by $A^{\sharp} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \operatorname{pr}_{i}^{*}A$ the associated \mathfrak{S}_{m} -invariant divisor on X^{m} . Since A^{\sharp} admits \mathfrak{S}_{m} -invariant local defining equations, the latter are pull-backs of equations on X_{m} : this means that there exists an effective Cartier divisor A_{\flat} on X_{m} such that $q^{*}A_{\flat} = A^{\sharp}$. Note that since A_{\flat} is a Cartier divisor on X_{m} , it induces a well-defined line bundle.

Remark that the construction $X \rightsquigarrow X_m$ is functorial, any holomorphic map $f : X \to Y$ inducing a natural holomorphic map $f_m : X_m \to Y_m$.

2.2. The Reid-Tai-Weissauer criterion. — For later reference, we now recall an important criterion for the extension of differential forms on resolutions of quotient singularities.

Let G be a finite group acting on a complex manifold X of dimension n. The criterion can be stated in terms of the following condition:

Condition $(I_{x,d})$. — Let $x \in X$, and let $d \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $g \in G$ having order r > 1 and stabilizing x. Then there exists coordinates (z_1, \ldots, z_n) , centered at x such that g acts by

$$g \cdot (z_1, \ldots, z_n) = (\zeta^{a_1} z_1, \ldots, \zeta^{a_n} z_n),$$

where $\zeta = e^{2i\pi/r}$, and $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in [0, r-1]$. We say that the condition $(I_{x,d})$ is satisfied, if for any such $g \in G \setminus \{1\}$ stabilizing x, the following holds for any choice

of d distinct elements i_1, \ldots, i_d in $[\![1, n]\!]$:

 $a_{i_1} + \dots + a_{i_d} \ge r.$

Note that it is always possible to find coordinates z_1, \ldots, z_n as above by the classical lemma of H. Cartan [Car54]; whether the criterion holds or not is independent on such a choice of coordinates.

It is useful to state a weaker condition under which the differentials will extend meromorphically to a resolution of singularities. Resume the same notation as before, and let $\alpha > 0$.

Condition $(I'_{x,d,\alpha})$. — We say that the condition $(I'_{x,d,\alpha})$ is satisfied, if the same statement as in Condition $(I_{x,d})$ holds, with the inequality replaced by

$$a_{i_1} + \dots + a_{i_d} \ge r(1 - \alpha)$$

PROPOSITION 2.1 ([Wei86, Lem. 4. p. 213]). — Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$. Assume that the condition $(I_{x,d})$ (resp. $(I'_{x,d,\alpha})$) holds for any point $x \in X$. Let $Y = G \setminus X$, and let \widetilde{Y} be a smooth resolution of singularities of Y. Let Y° be the smooth locus of Y.

Then, for any $p \ge d$, and for any $q \in \mathbb{N}$, the sections of $(\Lambda^p \Omega_{Y^\circ})^{\otimes q}$ extend to the whole \widetilde{Y} (resp. extends as meromorphic section of $(\Lambda^p \Omega_{\widetilde{Y}})^{\otimes q}$ with a pole of order at most $\lfloor q \alpha \rfloor$).

Remark 2.2

(1) The fact that q is arbitrary in the criterion above is crucial. Note that if q = 1, then for any $p \ge 1$, any section of $\Lambda^p \Omega_{Y^\circ}$ extends to \widetilde{Y} , e.g. by [Fre71] or [GKKP11]. The proof of [Fre71] consists essentially in remarking that $(I'_{x,d,\alpha})$ always holds for some $\alpha < 1$, so $\lfloor q\alpha \rfloor = 0$ in this case.

(2) Proposition 2.1 is a generalization of well-known criterion proved independently by Tai [Tai82] and Reid [Rei80] (which is simply the case $p = \dim X$). The proof given in [Wei86] is stated in the case where $X = \mathbb{H}_g$ is the Siegel upper half-space acted upon by $G = \operatorname{Sp}(2g, \mathbb{Z})$, and where G is a cyclic group; by an argument of Tai [Tai82, Prop. 3.1], the cyclic case suffices to deal with the general situation, and Weissauer's computations can be adapted immediately to the general case formulated above. For more details in English, the reader can see e.g. [Cad21, §4].

2.3. Jet differentials. — We will now recall some basic facts around the notion of jet differentials. For more details, the reader can refer to [Dem 12, \$7].

Let X be a complex manifold, and $k, m \in \mathbb{N}$ be integers. We will denote the unit disk by Δ . The Green-Griffiths vector bundle of jet differentials of order k and degree m, is the vector bundle $E_{k,m}^{\text{GG}}\Omega_X \to X$, whose sections over a chart $U \subset X$ identify with differential equations acting on holomorphic maps $f : \Delta \to U$, with adequate order and degree. Writing $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n)$ in local coordinates, P(f) can be written as a holomorphic polynomial $P_0(f; f', \ldots, f^{(k)})$ in the first k derivatives of the f_i , being of degree m with respect to reparametrization, i.e., $P(g)(t) = \lambda^m P(f)(\lambda t)$ if $g(t) = f(\lambda t)$. For any order $k \ge 1$, we can form the Green-Griffiths jet differential algebra $E_{k,\bullet}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_X = \bigoplus_{m\ge 0} E_{k,m}\Omega_X$, and define the *k*-th jet space $X_k^{\mathrm{GG}} = \operatorname{Proj}_X(E_{k,\bullet}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_X)$. We check that the elements of X_k^{GG} are naturally identified with classes of *k*-jets, i.e., *k*-th order Taylor expansions of holomorphic maps $f : (\Delta, 0) \to X$, up to linear reparametrization. Each jet space is endowed with a projection map $\pi_k : X_k^{\mathrm{GG}} \to X$ and tautological sheaves $\mathscr{O}_{X_k^{\mathrm{GG}}}(m)$ $(m \ge 0)$, such that

$$(\pi_k)_* \mathscr{O}_{X_k^{\mathrm{GG}}}(m) = E_{k,m}^{\mathrm{GG}} \Omega_X$$

for any $m \ge 1$.

If C is a complex curve, any map $f: C \to X$ admit well-defined lifts $f_{[k]}: C \to X_k^{\text{GG}}$ obtained by taking the k-th Taylor expansion at each point of C. The main interest of jet differential equations in the study of complex hyperbolicity comes from the following fundamental vanishing theorem, which permits to give strong restrictions on the geometry of entire curves.

THEOREM 8 ([SY96, Dem97b]). — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety, and let A be an ample line bundle on X. Let $k, m \ge 1$, and let $P \in H^0(X, E_{k,m}^{GG}\Omega \otimes \mathscr{O}(-A))$. Let $f : \mathbb{C} \to X$. Then f is a solution of the holomorphic differential equation P, i.e., $P(f; f', \ldots, f^{(k)}) = 0$.

In other words, for any entire curve $f : \mathbb{C} \to X$, we have $f_{[k]}(\mathbb{C}) \subset \mathbb{B}_+(\mathscr{O}_{X_k^{\mathrm{GG}}}(1))$, where \mathbb{B}_+ denotes the augmented base locus.

The previous theorem has strong implications in cases where global jet differential equations are numerous. In these notes, we will be able to produce such differential equations using a basic variant of the *orbifold jet differentials* which were introduced by the second and third authors in a joint work with L. Darondeau [CDR20]. We will explain briefly how these objects can be defined in our context at the beginning of Section 7.1.

PART 1. Specialness of symmetric powers

3. Special varieties

We collect here basic definitions and constructions related to special varieties, while referring to [Cam04] for more details.

3.1. Special Manifolds via Bogomolov sheaves. — Let X be a connected complex smooth projective variety of complex dimension n. For a rank-one coherent subsheaf $\mathscr{L} \subset \Omega_X^p$, denote by $H^0(X, \mathscr{L}^m)$ the space of sections of $\operatorname{Sym}^m(\Omega_X^p)$ which take values in \mathscr{L}^m at the generic point of X (where as usual $\mathscr{L}^m := \mathscr{L}^{\otimes m}$).

The *litaka dimension* of \mathscr{L} is $\kappa(X, \mathscr{L}) \coloneqq \max_{m>0} \{ \dim(\Phi_{\mathscr{L}^m}(X)) \}$, i.e., the maximum dimension of the image of rational maps $\Phi_{\mathscr{L}^m} \colon X \to \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, \mathscr{L}^m))$ defined at the generic point of X, where by convention $\dim(\Phi_{\mathscr{L}^m}(X)) \coloneqq -\infty$ if there are no global sections. Thus $\kappa(X, \mathscr{L}) \in \{-\infty, 0, 1, \ldots, \dim(X)\}$. In this setting, a theorem of Bogomolov in [Bog78] shows that, if $\mathscr{L} \subset \Omega^p_X$, then $\kappa(X, \mathscr{L}) \leq p$. DEFINITION 3.1. — Let X, p > 0 be as above. A rank one saturated coherent sheaf $\mathscr{L} \subset \Omega^p_X$ is called a *Bogomolov sheaf* if $\kappa(X, \mathscr{L}) = p$, i.e., if \mathscr{L} has the largest possible litaka dimension.

DEFINITION 3.2 ([Cam04, Def. 2.1]). — A nonsingular complex projective⁽¹⁾ variety X is said to be *special* (or *of special type*) if there is no Bogomolov sheaf on X. A projective variety is said to be *special* if some (or any) of its resolutions are special.

Bogomolov sheaves on X occur if $f : X \to Y$ is a fibration on Y, of general type and dimension p > 0, indeed:

REMARK 3.3. — If $f: X \to Y$ is a fibration (by which we mean a surjective morphism with connected fibers) and Y is a variety⁽²⁾ of general type of dimension p > 0, then the saturation of $f^*(K_Y)$ in Ω_X^p is a Bogomolov sheaf of X.

By the previous remark if there is a fibration $X \to Y$ with Y of general type then X is nonspecial. In particular, if X is of general type of positive dimension, X is not of special type. However, Bogomolov sheaves occur, more generally, when $f: X \to Y$ fibres over Y, even if Y is not of general type, provided f has enough multiple fibres.

3.2. Special Manifolds via orbifold bases. — Special varieties are alternatively characterized using the notion of *orbifolds*. We briefly recall the construction.

Let Z be a normal connected compact complex variety. An orbifold divisor Δ is a linear combination $\Delta := \sum_{\{D \subset Z\}} c_{\Delta}(D) \cdot D$, where D ranges over all prime divisors of Z, the orbifold coefficients are rational numbers $c_{\Delta}(D) := (1-1/m_{\Delta}(D)) \in [0,1] \cap \mathbb{Q}$ such that all but finitely many are zero. Equivalently,

$$\Delta = \sum_{\{D \subset Z\}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{m_{\Delta}(D)} \right) \cdot D = \sum_{j \in J} \left(1 - \frac{1}{m_j} \right) \cdot D_j,$$

where only finitely orbifold multiplicities $m_j \coloneqq m_{\Delta}(D_j) \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 1} \cup \{+\infty\}$ are larger than 1.

An orbifold pair is a pair (Z, Δ) where Δ is an orbifold divisor; they interpolate between the compact case where $\Delta = \emptyset$ and the pair $(Z, \emptyset) = Z$ has no orbifold structure, and the *open*, or *purely-logarithmic case* where $c_j = 1$ for all j, and we identify (Z, Δ) with $Z \setminus \text{Supp}(\Delta)$.

When Z is smooth and the support $\operatorname{Supp}(\Delta) \coloneqq \bigcup D_j$ of Δ has normal crossings singularities, we say that (Z, Δ) is *smooth*. When all multiplicities m_j are integral or $+\infty$, we say that the orbifold pair (Z, Δ) is *integral*, and when every m_j is finite it may be thought of as a virtual ramified cover of Z ramifying at order m_j over each of the D_j 's.

⁽¹⁾Bogomolov theorem works in the compact Kähler setting as well, and so do the notions of special variety and core map.

 $^{^{(2)}}Y$ normal is sufficient, by considering $\mathscr{L} := f^*(i_*(K_{Y^0}))$, where $i: Y^0 \to Y$ is the injection of the regular locus of Y.

Consider a fibration $f: X \to Z$ between normal connected complex projective varieties. In general, the geometric invariants (such as $\pi_1(X), \kappa(X), \ldots$) of X do not coincide with the 'sum' of those of the base (Z) and of the generic fiber (X_η) of f. Replacing Z by the 'orbifold base' (Z, Δ_f) of f, which encodes the multiple fibers of f, leads in some favorable important cases to such an additivity (on suitable birational models at least).

DEFINITION 3.4 (Orbifold base of a fibration). — Let $f: X \to Z$ be a fibration, and let Δ be an orbifold divisor on X. We then write $f: (X, \Delta) \to Z$ to indicate that Δ is taken into account. We shall define the *orbifold base* (Z, Δ_f) of (f, Δ) as follows: to each irreducible Weil divisor $D \subset Z$ we assign the multiplicity $m_{(f,\Delta)}(D) :=$ $\inf_k \{t_k \cdot m_\Delta(F_k)\}$, where $f^*(D) = \sum_k t_k \cdot F_k + R$, R is an f-exceptional divisor of Xwith $f(R) \subseteq D$, and F_k are the irreducible divisors of X which map surjectively to Dvia f, with fiber of multiplicity t_k over the generic point of D.

REMARK 3.5. — Note that the integers t_k are well-defined, even if X and Z are only assumed to be normal.

Let (Z, Δ) be an orbifold pair. Assume that $K_Z + \Delta$ is Q-Cartier (this is the case if (Z, Δ) is smooth, for example): we will call it the *canonical bundle* of (Z, Δ) . Similarly we will denote by the *canonical dimension* of (Z, Δ) the Kodaira dimension of $K_Z + \Delta$ i.e., $\kappa(Z, K_Z + \Delta) := \kappa(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(k.(K_Z + \Delta)))$, for k > 0 any integer such that $k.(K_Z + \Delta)$ is Cartier. Finally, we say that the orbifold (Z, Δ) is of general type if $\kappa(Z, \Delta) = \dim(Z)$.

DEFINITION 3.6. — A fibration $f: X \to Z$ with X, Z projective, X smooth and Z normal, is said to be of general type if (Z, Δ_f) of general type.

If $f: X \to Z$, dim(Z) = p > 0, is only a rational fibration, we may replace X, Z, fby birational models and assume that (Z, Δ_f) is smooth. The saturated rank-one sheaf $\mathscr{L} \subset \Omega_X^p$ which coincides with $f^*(K_Y)$ over the regular locus of Y has then a well-defined $\kappa(X, \mathscr{L})$ as said in the beginning of the present subsection, easily seen to be independent of the birational models chosen, and can be seen to be equal to $\kappa(Z, K_Z + \Delta_f)$ on any suitably chosen 'neat' birational model of f.

The non-existence of fibrations of general type in the above sense turns out to be equivalent to the specialness condition of Definition 3.2.

THEOREM 9 (see [Cam04, Th. 2.27]). — A smooth complex projective variety X is special if and only if it has no rational fibrations $f: X \to Z$ of general type.

Let us now recall the existence of the *core* map (see [Cam04, §3] for details). Given a smooth projective variety X there is a functorial fibration $c_X : X \to C(X)$, called the *core* of X such that the fibers of c_X are special varieties and the base C(X) is either a point (if and only if X is special) or an orbifold $(C(X), \Delta_{c_X})$ of general type. This 'core map' dominates birationally any fibration $f : X \to Z$ with general type orbifold base, and its fibres are also the largest special subvarieties of X going through the general point of X.

As mentioned in the introduction, the second author has proposed in [Cam04] the following generalizations of Lang's conjectures.

Conjecture 3.7

(1) Let X be a complex projective variety. Then, X is special if and only if there exists an entire curve $\mathbb{C} \to X$ with Zariski dense image.

(2) Let X be a projective variety defined over a finitely generated field of characteristic zero k. Then, the set of rational points on X is potentially dense i.e., X(K)is dense in X for some finite extension K/k, if and only if X is special.

Finally, let us remark that previous conjectures (see [HT00a, Conj. 1.2]) proposed to characterize potential density with the weaker notion of *weak specialness*.

DEFINITION 3.8. — A projective variety X is said to be *weakly special* if there are no finite étale covers $u: X' \to X$ admitting a dominant rational map $f': X' \to Z'$ to a positive dimensional variety Z' of general type.

It has been shown in [CP07] and [RTW21] that one cannot replace "special" by "weakly-special" in Conjecture 3.7 in the analytic and function fields settings.

4. CANONICAL FIBRATIONS

We will now study conditions under which various canonical fibrations are preserved by the symmetric product. In the rest of the text, a *fibration* will be a surjective morphism with connected fibres. Then, if $f: X \to B$ is a fibration, so is $f_m: X_m \to B_m$. We denote with $Y_m \to X_m$ any desingularization of X_m .

We shall consider the following (bimeromorphically well-defined) fibrations for X smooth compact of dimension n:

(1) The Moishezon-Iitaka fibration $J: X \to B$

- Assuming X to be smooth compact Kähler:
 - (2) The 'rational quotient'⁽³⁾ $r: X \to B$.
 - (3) The 'core map' $c: X \to B$.

Recall that [AA03] shows that if X is smooth, and if dim $X \ge 2$, the singularities of X_m are canonical, and consequently, that $\kappa(Y_m) = \kappa(X_m) = m \cdot \kappa(X)$. The goal is to extend (and exploit) [AA03] in order to show the following:

THEOREM 10. — Let X be smooth projective⁽⁴⁾, and let $f : X \to B$ be any one of the three canonical fibrations f = J, r, c respectively. Assume dim $B \ge 2$, then for each of these 3 fibrations, the corresponding fibration of Y_m is nothing but the m-th

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

⁽³⁾Also termed MRC fibration.

⁽⁴⁾For J (resp. r, c), the statement is still valid for X compact (resp. for X compact Kähler). For J, this is simply due to the fact that [AA03] is purely local in the analytic topology. For r, c this will be explained briefly in the next footnotes.

symmetric product $f_m: Y_m \to B_m$. Explicitly: the Moishezon-Iitaka fibration of Y_m is $J_m: Y_m \to B_m$, the rational quotient map of Y_m is $r_m: Y_m \to B_m$, and the core map of Y_m is $c_m: Y_m \to B_m$. (When B is a curve, a simple description can be given, too. See Theorems 11 and 12 below, as well as Remark 4.1).

REMARK 4.1. — The conclusion is obviously false when dim X = 1 and $g(X) \ge 2$, since $q_m : X^m \to X_m$ then ramifies in codimension n = 1. One recovers a uniform statement by equipping X_m with its natural orbifold structure, obtained by assigning to each component $D_{j,k}$ in X_m of the diagonal locus $\mathfrak{D}_2(X_m)$ its natural multiplicity 2. The orbifold divisor $D_m := \sum_{j < k} (1 - 1/2) \cdot D_{j,k}$ on X_m has then the property that $q_m^*(K_{X_m} + D_m) = K_{X^m}$. In particular, $\kappa(X_m, K_{X_m} + D_m) = m \cdot \kappa(X)$. The divisor D_m will appear again when we consider the core map below. Notice however that, as soon as $m \ge 3$, the orbifold divisor D_m is not of normal crossings (for m = 3 for example, it is locally analytically a product of of disk by a plane cusp.)

Before starting the study of J_m, c_m, r_m , let us make some simple observations on $f_m : X_m \to B_m$ if $f : X \to B$ is a fibration (with connected fibres) between two connected compact complex manifolds, with dim $(B) \ge 1$:

(1) The generic fiber of f_m over a point $[b_1, \ldots, b_m] \in B_m$ is isomorphic to the (unordered) product $X_{b_1} \times \ldots X_{b_m}$ if the b_i are pairwise distinct. In particular, if the generic fiber of f is rationally connected, or special, so are the generic fibres of f_m . The rational quotient map and the core map of Y_m thus factorize through r_m and c_m respectively.

(2) If the schematic fibres X_{b_i} are reduced, so is the fiber over $[b_1, \ldots, b_m]$, whatever the b_i .

(3) If f has a local section over a neighborhood of each of the $b'_i s$, f_m has (an obvious) local section over a neighborhood of $[b_1, \ldots, b_m]$.

For f = J, the proof is an immediate consequence of [AA03]. Indeed: the general fiber of f_m is a product of fibres of J, hence has $\kappa = 0$. On the other hand, $\kappa(X_m) = m \cdot \kappa(X) = \dim(B_m)$. The conclusion follows.

We shall now prove the statement for the two remaining fibrations r, c.

4.1. The 'rational quotient'

THEOREM 11. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety, and let $r: X \to B$ be its rational quotient map. Then $r_m: X_m \to B_m$ is the rational quotient map of X_m if dim $(B) \neq 1$. If B is a curve of genus g > 0, and $R_m: X_m \to R(m)$ is the rational quotient map, there are two cases: either m < g, then $R_m = r_m, R(m) = B_m$, or $R_m = \operatorname{jac}_B^m \circ r_m: X_m \to \operatorname{Jac}(B)$, where $\operatorname{jac}_B^m: B_m \to \operatorname{Jac}(B)$ is the natural Jacobian map.

Proof. — We assume X to be complex projective. Recall that r is characterized by the fact that its fibres are rationally connected and (a smooth model of) its base is not uniruled (by [GHS03]). Since the generic fibres of r_m are products of fibres of r, hence rationally connected, it is sufficient to show that a smooth model $\mu: B'_m \to B_m$

of B_m is not uniruled if B is *not* a curve of positive genus. Assume B'_m were uniruled, we would then have an irreducible algebraic family of curves C'_t covering B'_m and with $-K_{B'_m}.C'_t > 0$. Since the singularities of B_m are canonical, this implies $K_{B_m}.C_t < 0$, where $C_t := \mu_*(C_t)$, since $K_{B'_m} = \mu^*(K_{B_m}) + E'$, with E' effective, by [AA03]. The conclusion⁽⁵⁾ now follows, using [MM86], from the fact that $K_{B^m} = (q_m^B)^*(K_{B_m})$ is pseudo-effective (i.e., has nonnegative intersection with any covering algebraic family of generically irreducible curves⁽⁶⁾), by lifting to B^m the generic curve C_t .

Assume now that B is a curve of genus g > 0. Then $\operatorname{jac}_B^m : B_m \to \operatorname{Jac}(B)$ has connected fibres generically projective spaces of dimension 0 if $m \leq g$, and positive dimension if m > g. Moreover the image of jac_B^m is never uniruled when m > 0. This shows the claim, by [GHS03].

REMARK 4.2. — The previous proof still works when X is a compact Kähler manifold: the argument can be adapted as follows. The rational quotient map (with maximally rationally connected fibres) still exists in the compact Kähler case, by the compactness of the components of the Chow-Barlet 'scheme'. Assume by contradiction that B'_m is uniruled. Let then $r': B'_m \to R'$, the MRC fibration of B'_m : its generic fiber is thus smooth, positive-dimensional, and rationally connected. From the last part of the preceding argument in the case when B is projective, we conclude that B_m is covered by an analytic family of curves (images of rational curves contained in the fibres of r') with negative intersection with K_{B_m} , and thus that K_{B^m} is not pseudo-effective, contradicting the fact that K_B is pseudo-effective.

We can now prove Theorem 2 as a corollary of the previous theorem:

COROLLARY 4.3. — A smooth projective variety X is rationally connected if and only if so is X_m for some m, and X is uniruled if and only if so is X_m for some m, unless X is a curve of genus g > 0, and m > g.

Proof. — Indeed: the uniruledness (resp. rational connectedness) of X is characterized by: $\dim(X) > \dim(B)$ (resp. $\dim(B) = 0$), and $\dim(B_m) = m \cdot \dim(B)$. We thus see that any X_m is rationally connected (resp. uniruled) if so is X. Conversely, the preceding Theorem 11 shows that the claim holds true if $\dim(R(m)) = \dim(B_m) =$ $m \cdot \dim(X)$. This is the case unless possibly when $r : X \to B$ fibres over a curve B with g(B) > 0, and m > g. In this case, X_m is uniruled, but not rationally connected. Thus X_m rationally connected for some m > 0 implies that X rationally connected. On the other hand, if X is not uniruled, we have X = B is a curve, and X_m is uniruled if and only if m > g. Hence the corollary.

REMARK 4.4. — If X is unirational, so is obviously X_m , for any m > 1. It is true, but less obvious ([Mat68], that if X is rational, then so is X_m , for any m > 1 (much

⁽⁵⁾One does not really need [MM86], since it is sufficient to show that $K_{B'_m}$ is pseudo-effective. ⁽⁶⁾By this, we mean an irreducible and compact complex space Γ equipped with two surjective

holomorphic maps $p: \Gamma \to S$ and $\Gamma \to X$, with $\dim(S) + 1 = \dim(\Gamma)$.

more is to be found in [CTS07] and [Pop13]). From this, it follows that if X is stably rational, then so is X_m , for m > 1 too. This naturally leads to ask about the converses.

QUESTION 1. — Assume that X_m is unirational (resp. rational, stably rational) for some $m \ge 2$, is then, yes or no, X unirational (resp. rational, stably rational)? If some X_m , m > 1 is rational, is X unirational?

Some specific cases are as follows.

Example 1

(1) If X is a smooth cubic hypersurface of dimension $n \ge 3$, is X_m rational for some large m?

(2) If X is the double cover of \mathbb{P}^3 ramified over a smooth sextic surface, X is Fano, hence rationally connected, but its unirationality (or not) is an open problem. Is X_m unirational for some large m? The same question arises for X a conic bundle over \mathbb{P}^2 with a smooth discriminant of large degree.

(3) Can the Brauer group of a smooth model of X_m be estimated from the one of X? Does it vanish for m sufficiently large if X is unirational (resp. rationally connected)? To which extent do the Brauer groups of X_m and its smooth models differ?

4.2. The core map

THEOREM 12. — Let X be a complex projective⁽⁷⁾ manifold of dimension $n \ge 2$ and $c : X \to B$ the core map of X. If $p := \dim(B) \ne 1$ then $c_m : X_m \to B_m$ is (bimeromorphically) the core map of X_m .

The case where B is a curve is studied in the next subsection (see also Remark 4.1).

COROLLARY 4.5. — If $n \ge 2$ and $p \ne 1$ then X is special if and only if so is X_m for some m.

Indeed, X (resp. X_m) is special if and only if $\dim(B) = 0$ (resp. $\dim(B_m) = 0$), and $\dim(B_m) = m \cdot \dim(B)$.

Proof of Theorem 12. — Since the general fibres of c_m are products of special manifolds they are special (it is easy to see that a product of special manifolds is special). It is thus sufficient to show that the 'neat orbifold base' of c_m is of general type, knowing that so is the neat orbifold base of c. This requires some preliminary explanation.

Recall that $f: X \to B$ is neat if there exists a bimeromorphic map $u: X \to X_0$, with X_0 smooth, such that each f-exceptional divisor is also u-exceptional, and the complement of the open set $U = B \setminus D \subset B$ over which f is submersive is a snc divisor, as well as $f^{-1}(D) \subset X$. Such a neat model of $f_0: X_0 \to B$ is obtained by flattening f_0 , followed by suitable blow-ups. In this case, the support of D_f , the orbifold base of f, is snc too, and $\kappa(B, K_B + D_f)$ is minimal among all bimeromorphic models of f.

 $^{^{(7)}}$ The proof applies directly when X is compact Kähler.

B. CADOREL, F. CAMPANA & E. ROUSSEAU

More precisely, $\kappa(B, K_B + D_f) = \kappa(X, L_f)$, where $L_f \coloneqq f^*(K_B)^{\text{sat}} \subset \Omega_X^p$, where $p \coloneqq \dim(B)$, and $f^*(K_B)^{\text{sat}}$ is the saturation of $f^*(K_B)$ in Ω_X^p . See [Cam04] for details. Notice also that if $c: X \to B$ is a neat model of some $f_0: X_0 \to B_0$, and if $x \in X$ is any point, there is another neat model $f': X' \to B'$ dominating⁽⁸⁾ $f: X \to B$ such that x does not belong to any f'-exceptional divisor on X', and lies in the image of the smooth locus of the reduction of a fiber of f'. If this condition is not realized on (X, f) it is then sufficient to suitably blow-up X, then flatten the resulting map by modifying B, and finally take a smooth model of the resulting f. The claim of Theorem 12 then holds true for (X, f) if it holds for (X', f').

Let $c: X \to B$ be neat with respect to $u: X \to X_0$, and let $c_m: X_m \to B_m$, together with a smooth model $c'_m: X'_m \to B'_m$ of c_m (i.e., X'_m, B'_m are smooth models of X_m, B_m).

Let us prove first that $c^m : X^m \to B^m$ is the core map of X^m , with orbifold base (B^m, D_{f^m}) and Kodaira dimension $m \cdot \kappa(B, D_f)$. This follows inductively on m from the following easy lemma, which also shows that $D_{f^m} = \bigcup_{s \in S_m} s(D_f \times X^{m-1})$.

LEMMA 4.6. — Let $f : X \to V, g : Y \to W$ be neat fibrations with orbifold bases $(V, D_f), (W, D_g)$. Then $f \times g : X \times Y \to V \times W$ is neat, its orbifold base is $(X \times Y, D_f \times W + V \times D_g)$, and its Kodaira dimension is $\kappa(V, D_f) + \kappa(W, D_g)$.

Proof. — If $E \subset V \times W$ is an irreducible divisor mapped surjectively on both V and W, there is only one irreducible divisor $F \subset X \times Y$ such that $(f \times g)(F) = E$, which has multiplicity 1 in $(f \times g)^*(E)$, since over $(v, w) \in E$ generic, $(f \times g)^{-1}(v, w) = X_v \times Y_w$, reduced. The other conclusions are obtained by a similar argument. □

– We now turn to the proof of Theorem 12. Let $c_m : X_m \to B_m$ be deduced by quotient from the core map c^m , and let $D_{c_m} \subset X_m$ be the direct image of D_{c^m} under the quotient map $q_B : B^m \to B_m$, so that $D_{c^m} = (q_B)^*(D_{c_m})$. It is sufficient to show that $\rho^*(c_m^*((K_{X_m} + D_{c_m})^{\otimes k})) \subset \operatorname{Sym}^k(\Omega_{X'_m}^{m \cdot p})$ for any (or some) k > 0 such that $k.(K_{X_m} + D_{c_m})$ is Cartier, where $\rho : X'_m \to X_m$ is a smooth model of X_m .

- If $p := \dim(B) = 0$, there is nothing to prove.

– We thus assume that $p \coloneqq \dim(B) \ge 2$. The problem is local (in the analytic topology) on X^m, X_m, B^m, B_m . By the observations made above, we shall assume that the points (x_1, \ldots, x_m) near which we treat the problem do not belong to any *c*-exceptional divisor, and are regular points of the reduction of the fiber of *c* containing them. The fibration *c* is thus given in suitable local coordinates on *X* and *B* by the map $c : (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \to (b_1, \ldots, b_p)$ with $b_i := x_i^{t_i}, \forall i = 1, \ldots, p, p < n$, where the support of D_c is contained in the union of the coordinate hyperplanes $b_i = 0$ of *B*, the multiplicity of $b_i = 0$ in D_c being an integer t'_i , with $1 \le t'_i \le t_i, \forall i \le p$, by the very definition of the orbifold base.

⁽⁸⁾In the sense that there exists birational maps $u': X' \to X$ and $\beta': B' \to B$ such that $f \circ u' = \beta' \circ f'$.

Since $c^*((db_i/b_i^{1-(1/t'_i)})^{\otimes t'_i}) = t_i^{t'_i} \cdot x_i^{(t_i-t'_i)} \cdot (dx_i)^{\otimes t'_i}$, we see that $(K_B + D_c)^{\otimes t}$ is Cartier and $c^*((K_B + D_c)^{\otimes t}) \subset \operatorname{Sym}^t(\Omega_X^p)$, if $t = \operatorname{lcm}\{t'_i\}$.

Thus $(c^m)^*((K_{B^m} + D_{c^m})^{\otimes t}) \subset \operatorname{Sym}^t(\Omega_{X^m}^{pm})$, this natural injection being deduced from the description of D_{c^m} given above (which shows that it is snc since so is D_c). The saturation of the image of this injection inside $\operatorname{Sym}^t(\Omega_{X^m}^{pm})$ is the line bundle generated by $T := (w_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge w_m)^{\otimes t}$, where $w_j := dx_{1,j} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_{p,j}, \forall j = 1, \ldots, m$. Here $(x_{1,j}, \ldots, x_{n,j})$ are the local coordinates near the point $z_j \in X$, on the *j*-th component $X_j \cong X$ of X^m near the point (z_1, \ldots, z_m) .

It is sufficient (considering separately the distinct points of the set $\{z_1, \ldots, z_m\}$) to deal with the case where $z_j = z_k, \forall j, k \leq m$.

The operation of \mathfrak{S}_m on the coordinates $x_{i,j}$, $i \leq n$, $j \leq m$ fixes the set of coordinates $x_{i,j}$, $i \leq p$, $j \leq m$ and induces on the vector space $\bigoplus_j V_j := \bigoplus_{i,j} \mathbb{C} \cdot x_{i,j}$, $j \leq p$ they generate a representation which is a direct sum of p copies of the regular representation.

The conclusion then follows from Proposition 2.1. One checks the conditions⁽⁹⁾ given in [Wei86] by using the (purely algebraic) proof of Prop. 1, p. 1370, of [AA03], which says that if $\rho : \mathfrak{S}_m \to \operatorname{Gl}(\bigoplus_{j=1}^{j=m} V)$ is a representation which is the direct sum of p copies of the regular representation, where V is a complex vector space of dimension $p \ge 2$, then $\sigma(g) = (n/2) \cdot r \cdot (\sum_{k=1}^{k=s} (r_k - 1)) \ge r$, for any $g \in \mathfrak{S}_m$ which is the product of s non-trivial disjoint cycles of lengths r_k , and $r := \operatorname{lcm}((r_k)'s)$ is the order of g. Here $\sigma(g) := \sum_h a_h$, if the eigenvalues of $\rho(g)$ are ζ^{a_h} , where ζ is any complex primitive r-th root of the unity, and $0 \le a_h < r$ for any h.

4.3. The core map of X_m when the base of c is a curve. — We now assume that $p := \dim(B) = 1$. Let $c : X \to B$ be the core map, and (B, D_c) its orbifold base. When $D_c = 0$, the situation is easy:

THEOREM 13. — Assume that the core map $c : X \to B$ maps onto a curve B, and that its orbifold-base divisor $D_c = 0$. Then $c_m : X_m \to B_m$ is the core map if m < g, and X_m is special if $m \ge g$.

Proof. — Since $D_c = 0$, the fibration $c : X \to B$, and so c_m , has everywhere local sections, thus the same is true for c_m , and hence for any smooth birational model of c_m . The conclusion thus follows from the fact that B_m is of general type if m < g, and special if $m \ge g$.

In the general case, we have a weaker statement:

COROLLARY 4.7. — If $c: X \to B$ is the core map, with B a curve, there is an integer $g(B, D_c) > 0$ such that X_m is special if $m \ge g(B, D_c)$. Moreover, X_m is not special if m < g(B).

⁽⁹⁾The simpler form of our tensor T reduces the conditions, for a given g, in the proof-not the statement-of Lemma 4 of [Wei86] to a single one: $\sigma(g) \ge r$ (in loc. cit. the data ℓ, d, N, m correspond to t, pm, n, r here, respectively).

Proof. — By assumption, the orbifold curve (B, D_c) is of general type, hence 'good', meaning that there exists a finite Galois cover $h: \widetilde{B} \to B$ which ramifies at order t'over each point $b \in D_c \subset B$, b of multiplicity t' in D_c . The normalization $H: \widetilde{X} \to X$ of the fiber-product $X \times_B \widetilde{B}$ comes equipped with $\widetilde{c}: \widetilde{X} \to \widetilde{B}$, which is its core map, since this fibration has everywhere local sections.

If $m \ge g(B)$, then X_m , and so also X_m , is special. This shows the first claim.

The second claim follows from the fact that $B_{g(B)-1}$ is the Θ divisor on the Jacobian of B, and so it is of general type. If we now take $m \leq (g(B)-1)$, B_m is still of general type, as seen inductively on $m = 1, \ldots, g(B) - 2$ by contradiction, because the images of $\{a\} \times B_m, a \in B$ in B_{m+1} by the natural addition map are injective and cover B_{m+1} when $a \in B$ varies. Since X_m fibres over B_m , we get that X_m is not special for $m \leq g(B) - 1$.

REMARK 4.8. — It is possible to show a more precise result (not used here): if $\delta := \deg(D_c)$, then X_m is special for $m \ge g(B) + \delta$, and non-special otherwise.

It is now easy to put all the previous results together to get Theorem 1 as a more synthetic statement.

Proof of Theorem 1. — The direct implication follows from Corollary 4.5, while the converse implication is a consequence of Theorem 13, and Corollary 4.7. \Box

5. Dense entire curves in symmetric powers

5.1. DENSE ENTIRE CURVES IN $\operatorname{Sym}^m(G \times C)$. — Let G (resp. C) be a curve of genus $g(G) \leq 1$ (resp. $g \coloneqq g(C) > 1$), and $S = G \times C$, then S_m is special if and only if $m \geq g$, which we assume from now on. Theorem 13 shows that S_m is 'special' (hence 'weakly-special'), while of course, S^m is not 'weakly special'. This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 3: S_m contains (lots of) entire curves $h : \mathbb{C} \to S_m$ with dense (not only Zariski-dense) image if (and only if) $m \geq g$. Note indeed that if m < g, then S_m fibres over C_m by means of its core map, which implies that the entire curves on S_m are contained in the fibres.

The statement of Theorem 3 was suggested by Ariyan Javanpeykar as a test case for the conjecture by the second named author, that special manifolds should contain dense entire curves. The arithmetic counterpart were that S_m is 'potentially dense' if defined over a finitely generated field of characteristic zero. Theorem 3 can be obtained as a consequence of the following more precise result:

THEOREM 14. — If $S = G \times C$ is as above, the following are equivalent:

- (1) $m \ge g$,
- (2) S_m is special,
- (3) S_m contains dense entire curves.

Proof. — We shall assume here that $G = \mathbb{P}^1$, the proof when G is an elliptic curve being completely similar (just replacing $\mathbb{C} \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ by $\mathbb{C} \to G$ the universal cover).

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

Observe that C_m contains dense entire curves, since it fibres surjectively over Jac(C) as a \mathbb{P}^r -bundle, with $r \coloneqq m - g$, over the complement in Jac(C) of a Zariski-closed subset of codimension at least 2.

Take a dense entire curve $f : \mathbb{C} \to C_m$, let $V \subset \mathbb{C} \times C$ be the graph of the family of *m*-tuples of points of *C* parameterized by \mathbb{C} via *f*, i.e.,

$$V \coloneqq \{ w \coloneqq (z,c) \mid c \in C, c \in f(z) \}.$$

The map $\pi: V \to \mathbb{C}$ sending w = (z, c) to z is thus proper, open and of geometric generic degree m. In particular, V is a Stein curve (not necessarily irreducible). Let $F: V \to C$ be the projection on the second factor. Let $g: V \to \mathbb{C} \subset \mathbb{P}^1 = G$ be any holomorphic map. The product map $g \times F: V \to \mathbb{C} \times C \subset G \times C = S$ is thus well-defined. We now define the map $h: \mathbb{C} \to S_m$ by sending $z \in \mathbb{C}$ to the m-tuple of S defined by: $(g \times F)(\pi^{-1}(z)) \subset S$.

We now just need to check that the map $g: V \to \mathbb{C}$ can be chosen such that $h(\mathbb{C}) \subset S_m$ is dense there. Note first that if $(z_n)_{n>0}$ is any discrete sequence of pairwise distinct complex numbers such that $\pi: V \to \mathbb{C}$ is unramified over each z_n , and if, for each n > 0, $(t_{n,1}, \ldots, t_{n,m})$ is an *m*-tuple of complex numbers, there exists a holomorphic map $g: V \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $g(w_{n,i}) = t_{n,i}, \forall n > 0, i = 1, \ldots, m$, where $(w_{n,1} = (z_n, c_{n,1}), \ldots, w_{n,m} = (z_n, c_{n,m})) = \pi^{-1}(z_n)$, and $(c_{n,1}, \ldots, c_{n,m}) \coloneqq f(z_n) \in C_m$ (the ordering being arbitrarily chosen).

It is now an elementary topological fact that the sequences $(t_{n,1}, \ldots, t_{n,m}), n > 0$ can be chosen in such a way that the sequence $(s_{n,1}, \ldots, s_{n,m})_{n>0} \in S^m$ is dense in S^m , where $s_{n,i} := (t_{n,i}, c_{n,i}) \in S, \forall n > 0, i = 1, \ldots, m$.

REMARK 5.1. — The preceding arguments work more generally for $X = G \times C$, when C, m are as above, but G enjoys the following property: for any smooth complex Stein curve $V \to \mathbb{C}$ proper over \mathbb{C} , and any sequence of distinct points $w_n \in W, t_n \in G$, there exists a holomorphic map $g: V \to G$ such that $g(w_n) = t_n, \forall n$.

This property is satisfied for G a complex torus or a unirational manifold. The same arguments would show the same result for G rationally connected if one could answer positively the following question, answered positively in [CW19], when $V = \mathbb{C}$:

QUESTION 2. — For $m, C, \pi : V \to \mathbb{C}$ defined as above, let $w_n \in V, t_n \in G, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ be a sequence of points. Assume that the points $\pi(w_n) \in \mathbb{C}$ are all pairwise distinct. Does there exist a holomorphic map $g : V \to G$ such that $g(w_n) = t_n, \forall n$ if G is rationally connected?

REMARK 5.2. — Let now $\Delta^{(m)} \subset S^m$ be the 'small diagonal', consisting of *m*-tuple of points of which 2 at least coincide. Thus $(S^m)^* \coloneqq S^m \smallsetminus \Delta^{(m)}$ admits a surjective (but non-proper) map to C^m .

Let $\Delta_m \subset S_m$ be defined as: $\Delta_m \coloneqq \mathfrak{D}_2(S_m) = q(\Delta^{(m)})$. We thus have, too: $\Delta^{(m)} = q^{-1}(\Delta_m)$. The restricted map $q : (S^m)^* \to (S_m)^* \coloneqq S_m \smallsetminus \Delta_m$ is thus proper and étale. B. CADOREL, F. CAMPANA & E. ROUSSEAU

Let $d_{(S^m)^*} \coloneqq d_{S^m|(S^m)^*}$ (by [Kob98]) be the Kobayashi pseudometric on $(S^m)^*$. Since the Kobayashi pseudometric on S^m is the inverse image of that on C^m by the natural projection $\gamma^m : S^m \to C^m$, any entire curve $h : \mathbb{C} \to S^m$ (and so even more in $(S^m)^*$) has to be contained in some fiber of γ^m . Moreover, the Kobayashi pseudometric on $(S_m)^*$ is comparable to its inverse image in $(S^m)^*$ (and can be explicitly described). This shows that any entire curve in $(S_m)^*$ is contained in the image by q of a fiber of γ_m , and is in particular algebraically degenerate (although there are lots of dense entire curves on S_m , none of these avoids Δ_m).

This gives a counterexample to an analytic version of the 'puncture problem' of [HT01], similar to the arithmetic one of [Lev].

5.2. \mathbb{C}^{2g} -DOMINABILITY OF $S^{[g]}$, THE g-TH SYMMETRIC PRODUCT OF GENERIC PROJECTIVE K3-SURFACES. — Let S be a smooth projective K3-surface with⁽¹⁰⁾ Pic(S) $\cong \mathbb{Z}$, generated by an ample line bundle L of degree 2(g-1), g > 1. Such K3-surfaces are thus generic among projective K3-surfaces admitting a primitive ample line bundle of degree $2 \cdot (g-1)$.

The objective is to prove the following

THEOREM 15. — For any such S, there is a (transcendental) meromorphic map $h: \mathbb{C}^{2g} \dashrightarrow S_g$ whose image contains a nonempty Zariski open subset U of S_g (we say that S_g is " \mathbb{C}^{2g} -dominable"). In particular, for any countable subset P of U, there is an entire curve on S_g whose image contains P. If P is dense in S_g , so is the image of this entire curve.

Remark 5.3

(1) The proof rests on a suitable abelian fibration $S_g \to \mathbb{P}^g$. Our result may thus be seen as analog to the case when S is an elliptic K3 surface (over \mathbb{P}^1) and g = 1, shown in [BL00].

(2) Our result is analogous to the arithmetic situation treated by [HT01].

(3) Since S_g is special, Theorem 15 solves in a stronger form one of the conjectures of [Cam04] in this particular case.

(4) One may expect the conclusion of Theorem 15 to hold for $S^{[k]}$, any k > 1 and any K3-surface (projective or not).

Before starting the proof, we recall some of the objects which have been attached to such a pair (S, L).

The Hilbert scheme of g points. — The Hilbert scheme $S^{[g]}$ of points of length g on S, equipped with the Hilbert to Chow birational morphism $\delta : S^{[g]} \to S_g$, is known to be smooth ([Fog68], Theorem 2.4) and holomorphically symplectic [Bea83]).

400

 $^{^{(10)}}$ with some more work, it is probably possible to extend the next result to any projective K3-surface, by taking for L an ample and primitive line bundle with g minimal.

The relative Jacobian. — The line bundle L determines $\mathbb{P}(H^0(S,L))^* := \mathbb{P}^g$, the g-dimensional projective space (by Riemann-Roch and Kodaira vanishing). The linear system |L| is base-point free and the associated map $\varphi: S \to \mathbb{P}^g$ is an embedding for $q \ge 3$ (a double cover ramified over a sextic for q = 2). For each $t \in \mathbb{P}^{g}$, the corresponding zero locus of a non-zero section of |L| is an irreducible and reduced (by the cyclicity of Pic(S) assumption) curve of genus g denoted C_t . The incidence graph of this family of curves is denoted by $\gamma: \mathscr{C} \to \mathbb{P}^g$. For $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, the relative Jacobian fibration $j^d: J^d \to \mathbb{P}^g$ has fiber over t the Jacobian J^d_t of degree d line bundles on C_t . The Jacobian J_t^0 of degree 0 line bundles on C_t (isomorphic to J_t^d by tensoring with any given line bundle of degree d) is a complex Hausdorff Lie group of dimension g quotient of $H^1(C_t, \mathscr{O}_{C_t})$ by the (closed) discrete subgroup $H^1(C_t, \mathbb{Z})$ ([BPVdV84, II.2, Prop. (2.)]). Thus, denoting with $j^0: J^0 \to \mathbb{P}^g$ the relative Jacobian of degree 0 (instead of d) line bundles on the $C'_t s$, and $V := R^1 \gamma_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{C}}) \to \mathbb{P}^g$, this sheaf is locally free and thus a vector bundle $w: V \to \mathbb{P}^g$ of rank q on \mathbb{P}^g . By [Gro62, Th. 3.1], the relative Picard scheme is separated $^{(11)}$, and so the relative discrete group $R^1\gamma_*(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{P}^g$ is closed in V. Taking the quotient, we get:

LEMMA 5.4. — There is a holomorphic and surjective unramified map $H: V \to J^0$ over \mathbb{P}^g .

The compactified Jacobian. — For $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, this is the compactification $\overline{j}^d : \overline{J^d} \to \mathbb{P}^g$ of J^d over \mathbb{P}^g obtained as a component of the moduli space of simple sheaves on S([Muk84]). This variety is compact smooth, holomorphically symplectic and, for d = g, birational to $S^{[g]}$ ([Bea91, Prop. 3]). We denote with $\sigma : S^{[g]} \to \overline{J^g}$ this birational equivalence.

The covering by singular elliptic curves. — By [BPVdV84, VIII, Th. 23.1] (see references there for the original proofs), there is a nonempty curve in \mathbb{P}^g parametrizing (singular) curves $C'_t s$ with elliptic normalizations. This family (and each of its components) covers S. Choosing g generic (normalised) members E_1, \ldots, E_g of such an irreducible family provides a product $\varepsilon : E := E_1 \times \cdots \times E_g \subset S^g$. By [HT01, proof of Th. 6.1], the composed projection $\overline{j}^g \circ \sigma \circ \varepsilon : E \to \mathbb{P}^g$ is a (meromorphic) multisection of the (meromorphic) fibration $\tau := (\overline{j}^g) \circ \sigma : S^{[g]} \to \mathbb{P}^g$. This fact is actually easy to prove, since if C_t is smooth, it cuts each of the $E'_i s$ in finitely many distinct points, and so the intersection of E with C^g_t is finite, and surjective on the fiber of S_g over \mathbb{P}^g .

Proof. — We can now prove Theorem 15. For any complex manifolds M, R equipped with a holomorphic map $\mu: M \to \mathbb{P}^g, r: R \to \mathbb{P}^g$, we denote with $R(M) \coloneqq R \times_{\mathbb{P}^g} M$, equipped with the projections $\mu_M: R(M) \to M, r_M: R(M) \to R$. This, applied to $R = V, R = \overline{J^d}, R = S^{[g]}(M)$, gives the fiber products $V(M), \overline{J^d}(M), S^{[g]}(M)$.

We have two meromorphic and generically finite maps $\varepsilon : E \to S^{[g]}$, and $\sigma \circ \varepsilon : E \to \overline{J^g}$. Denote with E_t the fiber of E over $t \in \mathbb{P}^g$. We get a birational map

 $^{^{(11)}}$ We thank D. Markushevich for this reference and helpful comments.

 $\beta: \overline{J^g}(E) \longrightarrow \overline{J^0}(E)$ over E by sending a generic pair $(j, (e_1, \ldots, e_g)_t) \in J_t^g \times E_t$ to $j \otimes \lambda^{-1}$, if $\lambda \in J_t^g$ is the line bundle on C_t with a nonzero section vanishing on the g points e_i .

Let $\pi : E' \to E$ be a modification making these maps holomorphic. Let $w_E : V(E') \to E'$ be the rank-g vector bundle on E' lifted from $w : V \to \mathbb{P}^g$. We get also a natural holomorphic map, unramified and surjective $H_E : V(E') \to J^0(E')$ over E'. Let $\mathscr{E} := \pi_*(V)$:this is a rank-g coherent sheaf on E, and there is a natural evaluation map: $\pi^*(\mathscr{E}) \to V$ over E'.

Let now $\rho: \overline{E} \to E$ be the universal cover, so that $\overline{E} \cong \mathbb{C}^g$. Let $\pi': E' \times_E \overline{E} \to \overline{E}$ be deduced from $\pi: E' \to E$ by the base change ρ . Hence π' is a proper modification. The sheaf $\rho^*(\mathscr{E})$ on \overline{E} is coherent, hence generated by its global sections since \overline{E} is Stein. Let $W \subset H^0(\overline{E}, \rho^*(\mathscr{E}))$ be a vector subspace of dimension g which generates $\rho^*(\mathscr{E})$ at the generic point of \overline{E} , and let $ev: W \times \overline{E} \cong \mathbb{C}^{2g} \to V(E')$ be the resulting meromorphic and bimeromorphic map, obtained from the injection $\pi'^*: H^0(\overline{E}, \rho^*(\mathscr{E})) \to H^0(E' \times_E \overline{E}, V(E')).$

We thus obtain a dominating meromorphic map $\mathbb{C}^{2g} \to S^{[g]}$ by composing ev with the bimeromorphic maps between $\overline{J^0}(E'), \overline{J^g}(E'), S^{[g]}(E')$, and finally projecting $S^{[g]}(E')$ onto $S^{[g]}$.

This completes the proof of Theorem 15.

Part 2. Hyperbolicity of symmetric powers

6. A REMARK ON THE KOBAYASHI PSEUDOMETRIC

For any (irreducible) complex space Z, let d_Z be its Kobayashi pseudo-distance (see [Dem12, §1.A] for the proper definition). We say that Z is pseudo-Kobayashi hyperbolic if d_Z is a distance on some nonempty Zariski open subset of Z.

QUESTION 3. — Assume X is smooth, compact and pseudo-Kobayashi hyperbolic with n > 1. Is then X_m is pseudo-Kobayashi hyperbolic for any m > 0?

Let us make one remark in this context. Let $(X^m)^* \subset X^m$ be the Zariski open subset consisting of ordered *m*-tuples of distinct points of *X*. The complement of $(X^m)^*$ has codimension $n \ge 2$ in X^m . By [Kob98, Th. 3.2.22], we have $d_{X^m|(X^m)^*} =$ $d_{(X^m)^*}$. Let $q_m : X^m \to X_m$ denote the quotient map, and $X_m^* := q_m((X^m)^*)$, so that X_m^* has a complement of codimension *n* in X_m as well, which is the singular set of X_m . Moreover, $(X^m)^* = q_m^{-1}(X_m^*)$. From [Kob98, 3.1.9 & 3.2.8], we get:

$$d_{X_m^*}([x_1,\ldots,x_m],[y_1,\ldots,y_m]) = \inf_{s \in S_m} \{\max_{i=1,\ldots,m} \{ d_X(x_i,y_{s(i)}) \} \}.$$

Although the complement X_m^{sing} of X_m^* in X_m has codimension $n \ge 2$ (and the singularities are canonical quotient), it is not true that $d_{X_m|X_m^*} = d_{X_m^*}$ in general, as the following example shows. Even more, the pseudometric may degenerate away from X_m^{sing} , so the problem is not a local one near X_m^{sing} .

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

402

EXAMPLE 2. — Let $C \subset X$ be an irreducible curve of geometric genus g with normalization \widehat{C} on X, and take $m \ge g$. Then $\widehat{C}_m \to \operatorname{Alb}(C)$ is a surjective morphism with generic fibres \mathbb{P}_{m-g} , and there is then a natural generically injective map from \widehat{C}_m to X_m showing that d_{X_m} vanishes identically on its image.

If the answer to Question 3 is affirmative (as it should be if and only if X is of general type, after S. Lang's conjectures), the vanishing locus of d_{X_m} appears to have an involved structure. In particular, it should contain the union of all the \widehat{C}_m whenever $g(\widehat{C}) \leq m$, and this union should not be Zariski dense.

EXAMPLE 3. — The simplest possible example might be a surface $S \coloneqq C \times C'$, where C, C' are smooth projective curves of genus 2, and m = 2. In this case, the natural map $S_2 \to C_2 \times C'_2$ is a ramified cover of degree 2 branched over $R \coloneqq (2C) \times C'_2 \cup C_2 \times (2C')$, where $(2C) \subset C_2$ is the divisor of double points (and similarly for (2C')). Notice that C_2 identifies naturally with the $\operatorname{Pic}_2(C)$, the Picard variety of line bundles of degree 2 on C, isomorphic to $\operatorname{Jac}(C)$, blown-up over the point $\{K_C\}$, and 2C embeds C in C_2 , its image meeting the exceptional divisor of C_2 in the 6 ramification points of the map $C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ given by the linear system $|K_C|$. Thus $2C \subset C_2$ is an ample divisor (similarly for C').

As a first step towards Question 3, let us show the following result which in particular implies that entire curves in the above example cannot be Zariski dense.

PROPOSITION 6.1. — Let X be a complex projective variety of dimension n with irregularity $q := h^0(X, \Omega_X)$.

(1) If $m \cdot n < q$ then entire curves in X_m are not Zariski dense.

(2) If X is of general type, $n \ge 2$ and $m \cdot n \le q$ then entire curves in X_m are not Zariski dense.

We will make use of the following simple lemma.

LEMMA 6.2. — Let X be a smooth projective variety, and let $x_0 \in X$ be a base point. Let $\alpha : X \to A$ be its Albanese map, normalized so that $\alpha(x_0) = 0$. Then the Abel-Jacobi map $\beta_m : [x_1, \cdots, x_m] \in X_m \mapsto \sum_i \alpha(x_i) \in A$ is the Albanese map of X_m .

Proof. — Note first that since X_m has at worst canonical singularities, the fibers of any resolution of singularities $\tilde{X}_m \to X_m$ are rationally chain connected (see [HM07]), so the Albanese map of \tilde{X}_m factors through X_m . We get a map from X_m to an abelian variety that satisfies the standard universal property, thus the Albanese map of X_m is well defined.

Let now $\phi : X_m \to B$ be a morphism towards an abelian variety such that $\phi([x_0, \ldots, x_0]) = 0$. By the universal property of α , the restriction of ϕ to $[x_0, \ldots, x_0] \times X \cong X$ factors via α through a morphism of abelian varieties $\psi : A \to B$. We will show that $\phi = \psi \circ \beta_m$. We may assume by induction that the result has been proved for m-1 since ψ is independent of m.

Let $y \in X_{m-1}$. The restriction of ϕ to $X \cong \{y\} \times X \subset X_m$ factorizes through α , so there exists a morphism of abelian varieties $\psi_y : A \to B$ such that

(1)
$$\forall x \in X, \quad \psi_y(\alpha(x)) = \phi([y, x]) - \phi([y, x_0])$$

(the second translation term is needed to ensure that $\psi_y(0) = 0$).

The morphisms ψ_y depend continuously on $y \in X_{m-1}$: since X_{m-1} is connected, the rigidity property of morphisms of abelian varieties implies that $\psi_y = \psi_{[x_0, \dots, x_0]} = \psi$. Thus, for any $x \in X$, $\psi_y(\alpha(x)) = \psi(\alpha(x))$.

Also, using the induction hypothesis, to the composition of ϕ with the morphism $\{x_0\} \times X_{m-1} \to X_m$, one gets has

$$\phi([y, x_0]) = \phi([x_0, y]) = \psi(\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \alpha(y_i))$$

for any $y \in X_{m-1}$.

Inserting this back inside (1), one gets $\phi([y, x]) = \psi(\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \alpha(y_i) + \alpha(x)) = \psi(\beta_m([y, x]))$ as was to be shown. Thus $\beta_m : X_m \to A$ satisfies the universal property of Albanese varieties, which gives the result.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. — Let $\alpha : X \to A$ be the Albanese map. It induces the Albanese map $\beta_m : X_m \to A$ as in the previous lemma. If dim $X_m = m \cdot n < q = \dim A$ then by the classical Bloch-Ochiai's Theorem, entire curves in X_m are not Zariski dense. If X is of general type, by [AA03], X_m is of general type. Therefore by [Yam04, Cor. 3.1.14], if dim $X_m = m \cdot n \leq q = \dim A$, entire curves in X_m are not Zariski dense.

7. Jet differentials over symmetric powers

In this section, we will present our main criterion for hyperbolicity of symmetric powers X_m , in terms of the existence of jet differentials on X (see Theorem 16).

7.1. JET DIFFERENTIALS ON RESOLUTIONS OF QUOTIENT SINGULARITIES. — We recall here some basic definitions related, on the one hand, to natural orbifold structures on resolution of quotients singularities (see [CRT19, Cad21, CDG19]), and on the other hand, to orbifold jet differentials (see [CDR20]). The basic result we will need is given by Proposition 7.1.

7.1.1. Jet differentials on orbifolds. — Let us give some details about the very basic notion of orbifold jet differentials that we will use in the following. For our purposes, it will be enough to consider only orbifolds of the form $(X, \Delta = \sum_i (1 - 1/m_i)D_i)$, with $m_i \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 1}$. Also, rather than using the geometric orbifold jet differentials defined in [CDR20], it will also suffice to consider jet differentials adapted to divisible holomorphic curves in the sense of [CDR20, Def. 1.1]. The latter jet differentials admit a very simple description. For any $k, r \in \mathbb{N}$, we will denote by $E_{k,r}^{\text{GG}}\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{\text{div}}$ the vector bundle of divisible orbifold jet differentials of order k and degree r, whose sections in orbifold local charts adapted to Δ can be described as follows. Assume that $(t_1, \ldots, t_p, t_{p+1}, \ldots, t_n) \in U \longmapsto (t_1^{m_1}, \ldots, t_p^{m_p}, t_{p+1}, \ldots, t_n) \in V$ is such a chart.

404

Then, the local sections of $E_{k,r}^{\text{GG}}\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{\text{div}}$ corresponds to the regular sections of $E_{k,r}^{\text{GG}}\Omega_U$ on U, which are invariant under the deck transform group. Remark that we could also have defined $E_{k,r}^{\text{GG}}\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{\text{div}}$ in terms of a global *adapted covering* instead of local orbifold charts.

7.1.2. Natural orbifold structure on resolutions of a quotient singularity. — Consider now a quotient $Y = G \setminus X$ where X is smooth, and G finite. If $\tilde{Y} \to Y$ is a resolution of singularities, we can endow it with a natural orbifold structure, by assigning to every exceptional divisor $E \subset \tilde{Y}$ the rational multiplicity 1 - 1/m, where m is the order of the element $\gamma \in G$ associated with the meridional loop around the generic point of E (see [CDG19, Cad21]).

With this notation, the following proposition is then essentially tautological.

PROPOSITION 7.1. — Let X be a complex manifold, and let $G \subset \operatorname{Aut}(X)$ be a finite subgroup. Let $p: X \to Y = G \setminus X$ be the quotient map, and $\widetilde{Y} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y$ be a resolution of singularities. Let (\widetilde{Y}, Δ) be the natural orbifold structure on \widetilde{Y} . Let A be a G-invariant divisor on X, and B the associated Cartier divisor on Y such that $p^*B = A$.

For $k, r \in \mathbb{N}$, we let $\sigma \in H^0(X, E_{k,r}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_X \otimes \mathscr{O}(-A))$ be a *G*-invariant section. Then $\pi^* p_* \sigma$ induces an element of $H^0(\widetilde{Y}, E_{k,r}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_{(\widetilde{Y},\Delta)}^{\mathrm{div}} \otimes \mathscr{O}(-\pi^*B)).$

REMARK 7.2. — With the notation of the previous proposition, we see that if r is divisible enough, and if f is a local section of $\mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{Y}}(-r\Delta) \subset \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{Y}}$, then $f \cdot \pi^* p_* \sigma$ is a holomorphic section of $E_{k,r}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_{\widetilde{Y}} \otimes \mathscr{O}(-\pi^*B)$.

7.2. A FIRST CRITERION FOR THE HYPERBOLICITY OF SYMMETRIC POWERS. — Before presenting our next hyperbolicity result, let us first prove a proposition that will allow us later on to compensate for the divergence of natural orbifold objects on resolutions of X_m . We resume the notation introduced in Section 2.1.

PROPOSITION 7.3. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety, and let A be a very ample divisor on X. Let $\pi : \widetilde{X}_m \to X_m$ be a log-resolution of singularities, and let Δ be the exceptional divisor with its reduced structure. Then

$$\mathbb{B}(\pi^*A_{\flat} - \frac{1}{2(m-1)}\Delta) \subset |\Delta|,$$

where \mathbb{B} denotes the stable base locus.

We break the proof of this proposition into several lemmas.

LEMMA 7.4. — Let U be a complex manifold, let $G \subset \operatorname{Aut}(U)$ be a finite group, and let $p: U \to G \setminus U = V$ be the quotient map. Let A be a divisor on X, and let $A^{\sharp} = \sum_{\gamma \in G} \gamma^* A$. Note that A^{\sharp} is G-invariant, so there exists a Cartier effective divisor A_{\flat} on V such that $p^* A_{\flat} = A^{\sharp}$. Let $W \subset U$ be an irreducible component of the subset of points stabilized by some element of G. Let $s \in \Gamma(U, A^{\sharp})$ be a G-invariant section vanishing at order r along W, for some $r \ge 1$. Then, we have the following.

(1) s descends to a section $\sigma \in \Gamma(V, A_{\flat})$;

(2) let $\widetilde{X} \xrightarrow{\pi} X$ be a resolution of singularities, and let $E \subset \widetilde{X}$ be an exceptional divisor such that $\pi(E) \subset p(W)$. Let m be the multiplicity of E for the natural orbifold structure on \widetilde{X} . Then, $\pi^*\sigma$, seen as a section of π^*A_{\flat} , vanishes at order $\geq r/m$ along E.

Proof. – (1) is trivial, by definition of A_{\flat} . Let us prove (2). Let $H \subset G$ be the stabilizer of the generic point of $\pi(E)$. By definition of A^{\sharp} , we may find an *H*-invariant trivialization e of A^{\sharp} near this generic point. Besides, s = f e for some *H*-invariant holomorphic function f vanishing at order r along W. Consider a polydisk $D \cong \Delta^n$ centered around a generic point of E, and let D' be the normalization of the fibered product of D and U over V. We obtain the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} D' \cong \Delta \times \Delta^{n-1} & \xrightarrow{\pi'} U \\ & & \downarrow p' & & \downarrow p \\ (\Delta^n \cap E) = \{0\} \times \Delta^{n-1} & \longrightarrow & D \cong \Delta \times \Delta^{n-1} & \xrightarrow{\pi} & V \end{array}$$

Since f is H-invariant, $f \circ \pi' = f' \circ p'$ for some holomorphic function f' on $D \cong \Delta \times \Delta^{n-1}$. Moreover, we have $\sigma = f' e_{\flat}$, where e_{\flat} is the section of A_{\flat} induced by e. The holomorphic function f vanishes at order r > 0 along V, so $f \circ \pi'$ vanishes at order $\ge r$ along $\{0\} \times \Delta^{n-1}$. Since $p'(w, z) = (w^m, z)$, this implies that f' vanishes at order $\ge r/m > 0$ along $\{0\} \times \Delta^{n-1} \subset \Delta^n$. This ends the proof.

LEMMA 7.5. — Let $N, m \ge 1$. We define $V = \mathbb{P}^N \times \cdots \times \mathbb{P}^N$ to be a product of m copies of \mathbb{P}^N . Let $\mathfrak{D} = \{(z_1, \ldots, z_m) \in V \mid \exists i \neq j, x_i = x_j\} \subset V$ be the diagonal locus. Let $A \subset \mathbb{P}^N$ be a hyperplane section, and let $A^{\sharp} = \sum_{i=1}^m \operatorname{pr}_i^* A$.

Then, for any $z \in V \setminus \mathfrak{D}$, there exists a \mathfrak{S}_m -invariant section

$$s \in \Gamma(V, \mathscr{O}_V(2(m-1)A^{\sharp})),$$

with $s(x) \neq 0$, and such that s vanishes at order 2 along \mathfrak{D} .

Proof. — Let $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_m) \in V \setminus \mathfrak{D}$. Write $(\mathbb{P}^N)_i$ to denote the *i*-th factor of *V*. For any i < j, we have $z_i \neq z_j$, so for two generic hyperplane linear sections $X, Y \in |A|$, we have

(2)
$$X(z_i)Y(z_j) - X(z_j)Y(z_i) \neq 0.$$

Indeed, we can choose X, Y so that $X(z_i) \neq 0$ and $X(z_j) = 0$ (resp. $Y(z_i) = 0$ and $Y(z_j) \neq 0$).

Now, choose two generic linear sections X, Y in |A|, and for each $i \in [\![1,m]\!]$, let X_i and Y_i be the corresponding section on the copy $(\mathbb{P}^N)_i$. We let

$$s = \prod_{i < j} \left(X_i Y_j - X_j Y_i \right)^2.$$

This is a section of $\bigotimes_{i=1}^{m} p_i^* \mathcal{O}(2(m-1)) = \mathcal{O}(2(m-1)A^{\sharp})$. By the argument above, we can pick s so that $s(z) \neq 0$, and s vanishes on \mathfrak{D} at order 2 by Lemma 7.6.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

We check that s is invariant under all transpositions $(ij) \in \mathfrak{S}_m$. This proves that s is \mathfrak{S}_m -invariant.

LEMMA 7.6. — Let X_1, Y_1 be two generic hyperplane sections on \mathbb{P}^N , and let X_2, Y_2 denote the same sections on a second copy of \mathbb{P}^N . Then the homogeneous polynomial $X_1Y_2 - X_2Y_1$ vanishes at order 1 along the diagonal of $\mathbb{P}^N \times \mathbb{P}^N$.

Proof. — We let $2u = X_1 + X_2$, $2v = X_1 - X_2$ (resp. $2u' = Y_1 + Y_2$, $2v' = Y_1 - Y_2$). Then, we can write

$$X_1Y_2 - X_2Y_1 = (u+v)(u'-v') - (u-v)(u'+v')$$

= -2uv' + 2u'v.

This expression is of degree 1 in v' and v, so for generic u, u', it vanishes at order one along the diagonal.

The proof of Proposition 7.3 is now straightforward.

Proof of Proposition 7.3. — Let $x \in \widetilde{X}_m \setminus |\Delta|$, and let $x_0 \in X^m$ be such that $p(x_0) = \pi(x)$. Since x is not in $|\Delta|$, x_0 is not in the diagonal locus of X^m . Using the embedding $X \subset \mathbb{P}^N$ provided by the very ample divisor A, Lemma 7.5 gives a \mathfrak{S}_m -invariant section $s \in H^0(X^m, 2(m-1)A^{\sharp})$ such that $s(x_0) \neq 0$, and such that s vanishes at order 2 along the diagonal locus.

We may now see s as a section σ of $2(m-1)A_{\flat}$. Applying Lemma 7.4 to s, we see that the induced section

$$\pi^* \sigma \in H^0(X_m, 2(m-1)\pi^*A_{\flat})$$

vanishes along $|\Delta|$. Moreover, we have $\pi^* \sigma(x) \neq 0$, which gives the result.

We are ready to state our hyperbolicity criterion (announced in Theorem 4), in terms of the existence of sufficiently many jet differentials of bounded order on X. Again, we refer to [Dem12] for the basic definitions related to jet differentials. Let us simply recall that the locus of singular jets $X_k^{\text{GG,sing}} \subset X_k^{\text{GG}}$ is the subset of all classes of k-jets $[f : \Delta \to X]_k$ such that f'(0) = 0. Also, if $V \subset H^0(X, E_{k,r}^{\text{GG}}\Omega_X)$ is a vector subspace, then $\text{Bs}(V) \subset X_k^{\text{GG}}$ is the subsets of classes of the k-jets which are solutions to every equation in V.

THEOREM 16. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety. Let A be a very ample line bundle on X. Let $Z \subset X$, and $k, r, d \in \mathbb{N}^*$. We make the following hypotheses.

(1) Assume that

Bs
$$\left(H^0(X, E_{k,r}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_X \otimes \mathscr{O}(-dA))\right) \subset X_k^{\mathrm{GG},\mathrm{sing}} \cup \pi_k^{-1}(Z).$$

(2) Assume that d/r > 2m(m-1).

Then, $\operatorname{Exc}(\widetilde{X}_m) \subset |\Delta| \cup \pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{d}_1(Z)).$

Proof. — Let $f : \mathbb{C} \to \widetilde{X}_m$ be an entire curve such that $f(\mathbb{C}) \not\subset |\Delta|$. Let $U = \mathbb{C} \smallsetminus f^{-1}(|\Delta|)$, and, as before $\mathfrak{D} = \bigcup_{i \neq j} \{x_i = x_j\} \subset X^m$. We consider the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \widetilde{U} & \stackrel{g}{\longrightarrow} X^m \smallsetminus \mathfrak{D} & \stackrel{\mathrm{pr}_i}{\longrightarrow} X \\ \downarrow q & \qquad \downarrow p \\ U & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} (X_m)_{\mathrm{reg}} \end{array}$$

where q is the universal covering map, and g is an arbitrary lift of f. Without loss of generality, we can assume that all $\operatorname{pr}_i \circ g$ are non-constant $(1 \leq i \leq m)$. Indeed, if one of these maps is constant, it suffices to replace X^m (resp. X_m) by the product $Y = X \times \cdots \times X$ over a number m' < m of factors (resp. by $X_{m'} = \mathfrak{S}_{m'} \setminus Y$).

We may assume that $\operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{pr}_i \circ g) \not\subset Z$ for all $i \in \llbracket 1, m \rrbracket$, otherwise the proof is finished. Thus, there exists $t \in \widetilde{U}$ such that $(\operatorname{pr}_i \circ g)(t) \notin Z$, and $(\operatorname{pr}_i \circ g)'(t) \neq 0$ for all $i \in \llbracket 1, m \rrbracket$. By the hypothesis (1), there exists $\sigma \in H^0(X, E_{k,m}^{\operatorname{GG}}\Omega_X \otimes \mathscr{O}(-dA))$ such that for all $i \in \llbracket 1, m \rrbracket$, we have $\sigma_{q(t)} \cdot (\operatorname{pr}_i \circ g) \neq 0$, and in particular

$$\sigma(\mathrm{pr}_i \circ g) \not\equiv 0$$

for all i.

Thus, $\sigma^{\sharp}\coloneqq\bigotimes_{i=1}^m \mathrm{pr}_i^*(\sigma)$ is a $\mathfrak{S}_m\text{-invariant jet differential in}$

$$H^0(X^m, E^{\mathrm{GG}}_{k,rm}\Omega_X \otimes \mathscr{O}(-dA^{\sharp}))$$

such that $\sigma^{\sharp}(g) \neq 0$. By Proposition 7.1, σ^{\sharp} induces a section

$$\sigma_{\flat} \in H^0(\widetilde{X}_m, E_{k, rm}^{\mathrm{GG}} \Omega^{\mathrm{div}}_{(\widetilde{X}_m, \Delta)} \otimes \mathscr{O}(-d\pi^* A_{\flat})).$$

We have moreover $\sigma_{\flat}(f) \neq 0$. Now, by Proposition 7.3, for $a \geq 1$ divisible enough, there exists $s \in H^0(\widetilde{X}_m, a(\pi^*A_{\flat} - \frac{1}{2(m-1)}\Delta))$ such that $s|_{f(\mathbb{C})} \neq 0$. Thus, by the remark following Proposition 7.1, $s^{2rm(m-1)}\sigma_{\flat}^a$ induces a non-orbifold section

$$\sigma' \in H^0\Big(\widetilde{X}_m, E_{k,arm}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_{\widetilde{X}_m} \otimes \mathscr{O}\left(a(2rm(m-1)-d)\pi^*A_{\flat}\right)\Big),$$

and $\sigma'(f) \not\equiv 0$.

Since A^{\sharp} is ample, and p is finite, the divisor A_{\flat} is ample, so π^*A_{\flat} is big on X_m . But now, since 2rm(m-1) < d, the existence of σ' is absurd by the fundamental vanishing theorem of Demailly-Siu-Yeung (see [Dem12]).

7.3. Applications

7.3.1. Hypersurfaces of large degree. — Using Theorem 16, we can now obtain hyperbolicity results for the varieties X_m when $X \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+1}$ is a generic hypersurface of large degree. To do this, we will make use of several important recent results concerning the base loci of jet differentials on such hypersurfaces. Let us begin with the algebraic degeneracy of entire curves.

J.É.P. — M., 2022, tome 9

408

The recent work of Bérczi and Kirwan [BK19] gives new effective degrees for which a generic hypersurface has enough jet differentials to ensure the degeneracy of entire curves. This improvement of [DMR10] yields the following result.

THEOREM 17 ([BK19]). — Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+1}$ be a generic hypersurface of degree $d \ge 16n^5(5n+4).$

Then, if $r \gg 0$ is divisible enough, we have

(3) $\operatorname{Bs}\left[H^0\left(X, E_{n,r}^{\operatorname{GG}}\Omega_X \otimes \mathscr{O}\left(-r\frac{d-n-2}{16n^5} + r(5n+3)\right)\right)\right] \subset X_k^{\operatorname{GG}, \operatorname{sing}} \cup \pi_k^{-1}(Z)$ for some algebraic subset $Z \subsetneq X$.

REMARK 7.7. — As explained in [BK19], the coefficient 5n+3 comes from Darondeau's improvements [Dar16] for the pole order of slanted vector fields on the universal hypersurface. It seems to us by reading [Dar16] that we should actually expect the slightly better value 5n-2.

We deduce immediately from Theorem 16 the following consequence of this result. COROLLARY 7.8. — Let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+1}$ be a generic hypersurface of degree $d \ge 16n^5(5n+2m^2+4).$

Then there exists $Z \subsetneq X$ such that $\operatorname{Exc}(X_m) \subset \mathfrak{d}_1(Z)$.

Proof. — Because of (3), the conditions of Theorem 16 will be satisfied if

$$\left(\frac{d-n-2}{16n^5}-(5n+3)\right)>2m(m-1),$$

which is implied by our hypothesis. We have then $\operatorname{Exc}(X_m) \subset (X_m)_{\operatorname{sing}} \cup \mathfrak{d}_1(Z)$ for some $Z \subsetneq X$. Since $(X_m)_{\operatorname{sing}}$ is a union of $X_{m'}$ for m' < m, an induction on m permits to conclude.

It is also possible to obtain the hyperbolicity of X_m when X has large enough degree, using all the recent work around the Kobayashi conjecture (cf. [Bro17, Den17, Dem20, RY22]). The main result of [RY22] permits to reduce the proof of the hyperbolicity of X to results such as Theorem 17, and gives in particular the following.

THEOREM 18 ([RY22]). — Let $d, n, c, p \in \mathbb{N}$. Suppose that for a generic hypersurface $X' \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+1+p}$ of degree d, we have

Bs
$$\left(H^0(X', E_{k,r}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_{X'}\otimes \mathscr{O}(-1))\right) \subset X'_k^{\mathrm{GG},\mathrm{sing}} \cup \pi_k^{-1}(Z'),$$

for some algebraic subset $Z' \subset X'$ satisfying $\operatorname{codim}(Z') \ge c$. Then, for a generic hypersurface $X \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+1}$ of degree d, we have

Bs
$$\left(H^0(X, E_{k,r}^{\mathrm{GG}}\Omega_X \otimes \mathscr{O}(-1))\right) \subset X_k^{\mathrm{GG},\mathrm{sing}} \cup \pi_k^{-1}(Z),$$

for some subset $Z \subset X$ with $\operatorname{codim}(Z) \ge c + p$.

Letting d = n - 1, we can give a proof of Theorem 5 as a corollary of Theorem 18 and Theorem 16, combined with Theorem 17:

COROLLARY 7.9. — Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+1}$ be a generic hypersurface of degree

$$d \ge (2n-1)^5 (2m^2 + 10n - 1).$$

Then X_m is hyperbolic.

Proof. — Under the assumption on the degree, we can apply Theorem 18 with p = n, using Theorem 17 to obtain the first hypothesis on hypersurfaces $X' \subset \mathbb{P}^{2n+1}$. This shows that the conclusion of Theorem 18 holds for degree d hypersurfaces $X \subset \mathbb{P}^n$, with $Z = \emptyset$. Finally, Theorem 16 shows that any entire curve on X_m must have its image in the big diagonal $X_{m-1} \subset X_m$. A simple decreasing induction on m then permits to conclude that $\operatorname{Exc}(X_m) = \emptyset$.

7.3.2. Complete intersections of large degree. — We can also obtain a hyperbolicity result for symmetric products of generic complete intersections of large multidegree, using the work of Brotbek-Darondeau and Xie on Debarre's conjecture (see [BD18, Xie18]). The effective bound in the theorem below is provided by [Xie18].

THEOREM 19 ([BD18, Xie18]). — Let $n, n', d \ge 1$, and assume that $n' \ge n$. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+n'}$ be a complete intersection of multidegrees

$$d_1, \dots, d_{n'} \ge (n+n')^{(n+n')^2} \cdot d_{n'}$$

Then $\Omega_X \otimes \mathscr{O}(-d)$ is ample. In particular

$$\operatorname{Bs}(H^0(X, E_{1,r}^{\operatorname{GG}} \otimes \mathscr{O}(-rd)) = \varnothing$$

for $r \gg 1$.

By Theorem 16 and the same induction argument on m as above, the following corollary is immediate.

Corollary 7.10. — Let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and let $n' \ge n$. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+n'}$ be a generic complete intersection of multidegrees

$$d_1, \ldots, d_{n_1} > (n+n')^{(n+n')^2} (2m(m-1)).$$

Then X_m is hyperbolic.

REMARK 7.11. — For d_1 large enough, Corollary 7.10 is trivially implied by Corollary 7.9. Indeed, if $X \subset H$, where H is a degree d_1 hypersurface, X_m embeds in H_m .

8. Higher dimensional subvarieties

In this section, we gather several results related to the subvarieties of X_m , when X is a "sufficiently hyperbolic" manifold. In particular, when Ω_X is ample, we will show that a generic subvariety of X_m of codimension higher than n-1 is of general type (see Theorem 20).

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

LEMMA 8.1. — Assume that X is a complex manifold of dimension n, with $n \ge 2$, and let \mathfrak{S}_m act on X^m . Let $\alpha \in [0, 1]$. If

$$d \ge n(m-1) + 2 - \alpha \frac{(n-2)(m-2)}{2},$$

then the condition $(I'_{x,d,\alpha})$ of Section 2.2 is satisfied for every $x \in X^m$. In particular, if $d \ge n(m-1)+2$, then the condition $(I_{x,d})$ is satisfied for any $x \in X^m$.

Proof. — Let $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_m \setminus \{1\}$, and let $\sigma = \sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_t$ be a decomposition of σ into cycles with disjoint supports. For each σ_i , let $r_i = \operatorname{ord}(\sigma_i)$, and assume that $r_1 \ge \cdots \ge r_\ell > 1$, and $r_{\ell+1} = \cdots = r_{\ell+s} = 1$, with $s = t - \ell$. Then, the order of σ is $r = \operatorname{lcm}(r_1, \ldots, r_\ell)$, and the a_i appearing in condition $(I_{x,d})$ are the integers jr/r_k $(1 \le k \le s, 0 \le j < r_k)$, each one repeated n times. We see in particular that 0 appears with multiplicity $nt = n(s + \ell)$, and that each non-zero a_i is larger than $r/\max_{1 \le j \le \ell} r_j$.

We need to check that for any choice of d distinct elements a_{i_1}, \ldots, a_{i_d} among the a_i , the sum is larger than $(1 - \alpha)r$. The lowest possible sum is reached when all the 0 appear in it. Thus, the sum of the a_{i_i} is larger than

$$(d - n(s + \ell)) \frac{r}{\max_{1 \leqslant j \leqslant \ell} r_j}.$$

The last quantity is larger than $r(1 - \alpha)$ if the following inequality is satisfied:

(4)
$$n(s+\ell) + (1-\alpha) \max_{1 \le j \le \ell} r_j \le d.$$

Now, we have $\max_{1 \leq j \leq \ell} r_j \leq \sum_{1 \leq j \leq \ell} r_j = m - s$, and $2\ell + s \leq \sum_{1 \leq j \leq \ell} r_j + s = m$ hence $\ell \leq (m - s)/2$. Putting everything together, we see that the following is always satisfied:

$$n(s+\ell) + \max_{1 \le j \le \ell} r_j \le \left(\frac{n}{2}+1\right)m + (1-\alpha)\left(\frac{n}{2}-1\right)s.$$

Since $n \ge 2$ and $1 - \alpha \ge 0$, the right hand side is maximal if s is maximal, equal to m-2; this right hand side is then equal to $n(m-1) + 2 - \alpha(n-2)(m-2)/2$ (thus the maximum is reached for $r_1 = 2, r_2 = \cdots = r_t = 1$, i.e., when σ is a transposition). Thus, if $d \ge n(m-1) + 2 - \alpha(n-2)(m-2)/2$, the inequality (4) is satisfied, which gives the result.

In the next definition, we state a condition that will later imply that a generic subvariety of X_m of high enough dimension is of general type (see Theorem 20).

DEFINITION 8.2. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety, let $\Sigma \subsetneq X$ be a proper algebraic subset, and let A be an effective divisor on X. We say that X satisfies the property $(H_{\Sigma,A})$, if the following holds.

Let $V \subset X$ be a subvariety of arbitrary dimension d, not included in Σ and A. Then, there exists $q, r \ge 1$, and a section $\sigma \in H^0(X, (\Lambda^d \Omega_X)^{\otimes q})$, with *non-zero* restriction

$$\sigma|_{(\Lambda^d T_{V^{\mathrm{reg}}})^{\otimes q}} \in H^0(V^{\mathrm{reg}}, (\Lambda^d \Omega_V)^{\otimes q} \otimes \mathscr{O}(-rA|_V)) \smallsetminus \{0\}.$$

Under suitable positivity hypotheses on the cotangent bundle of a complex manifold, it is not hard to check that the previous condition is satisfied, as we will show in the next proposition.

Recall that if $E \to X$ is a vector bundle, its *augmented base locus* is the algebraic subset $\mathbb{B}_+(E) \subset X$ defined as follows. Let $p : \mathbb{P}(E) \to X$ be projectivized bundle of rank one quotients of E, and $\mathcal{O}(1)$ be the tautological line bundle on $\mathbb{P}(E)$. Then, if Ais any ample line bundle on X, we let

$$\mathbb{B}_{+}(E) = p(\mathbb{B}_{+}(\mathscr{O}(1))).$$

where $\mathbb{B}_+(\mathscr{O}(1)) = \bigcap_{\ell \ge 1} \operatorname{Bs}(\mathscr{O}(\ell) \otimes p^* A^{-1})$. The *ample locus* of *E* is the (possibly empty) open subset $X \smallsetminus \mathbb{B}_+(E)$.

PROPOSITION 8.3. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety such that Ω_X is big. Let A be any very ample divisor on X.

- (1) If $\mathbb{B}_+(\Omega_X) \neq X$, then X satisfies the property $(H_{\mathbb{B}_+(\Omega_X),A})$.
- (2) If Ω_X is ample, then X satisfies the property $(H_{\emptyset,A})$.

Proof

(1) Let $V \subset X$ be a *d*-dimensional subvariety such that $V \not\subset \mathbb{B}_+(\Omega_X)$ and $V \not\subset A$. By general properties of ampleness of vector bundles, we have the inclusion $\mathbb{B}_+(\Lambda^d \Omega_X) \subset \mathbb{B}_+(\Omega_X)$ (this can be seen easily e.g. from [Laz04, Cor. 6.1.16])

Thus, if $x \in V \setminus \mathbb{B}_+(\Lambda^d \Omega_X)$ is a smooth point of V, and $w = \Lambda^d T_{V,x}$, there exists $\sigma \in H^0(X, S^m(\Lambda^d \Omega_X) \otimes \mathscr{O}(-A))$ such that $\sigma_x(w^{\otimes m}) \neq 0$. In particular, since σ vanishes along A, the restriction $\sigma|_V$ vanishes along $A \cap V$. The section σ satisfies our requirements.

(2) If Ω_X is ample, we have $\mathbb{B}_+(\Omega_X) = \emptyset$, so the result comes from the first point.

In the next proposition, we show that the property $(H_{\Sigma,A})$ is stable under products.

PROPOSITION 8.4. — Let X_i (i = 1, 2) be a smooth complex projective variety, and denote by $p_1, p_2 : X_1 \times X_2 \to X$ the canonical projections. Assume that each X_i satisfies the property (H_{Σ_i,A_i}) for some subvariety $\Sigma_i \subsetneq X_i$ and some divisor A_i on X.

Then $X_1 \times X_2$ satisfies the property $(H_{\Sigma,A})$, where $\Sigma = p_1^{-1}(\Sigma_1) \cup p_2^{-1}(\Sigma_2)$, and $A = p_1^*A_1 + p_2^*A_2$.

Proof. — Let $V \subset X_1 \times X_2$ be a *d*-dimensional subvariety such that $V \not\subset \Sigma$. Let $d_2 = \dim p_2(V)$, and let d_1 be the dimension of the generic fiber of $p_2 : V \to p_2(V)$. We have $d_1 + d_2 = d$.

(1) We deal first with the case $d_2 = 0$. Then, we have $\dim p_1(V) = d$, and $p_1(V) \not\subset \Sigma_1$ because $V \not\subset \Sigma$. Since X_1 satisfies (H_{Σ_1}) , there exists integers $q, r \ge 1$, and a section $\sigma \in H^0(X_1, (\Lambda^d \Omega_{X_1})^{\otimes q})$ such that $\sigma|_{\Lambda^d T_{p_1(V)^{\text{reg}}}}$ vanishes at order r along A_1 . Thus, $(p_1)^* \sigma \in H^0(X_1 \times X_2, (\Lambda^d \Omega_{X_1})^{\otimes q})$. We also have $(p_1)^* \sigma|_{\Lambda^d T_{V^{\text{reg}}}} \ne 0$, and this section vanishes at order r along $p_1^*A_1 + p_2^*A_2|_V = p_1^*A_1|_V$. This ends the proof in this case.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

412

(2) Assume now that $d_2 > 0$. Let $x_2 \in X_2$ be generic so that $\dim(V_{x_2}) = d_1$ and $p_1(V_{x_2}) \not\subset \Sigma_1$, where $V_{x_2} = p_2^{-1}(x_2) \cap V$. Let $V_2 = p_2(V)$, and $V_1 = p_1(V_{x_2})$.

For each *i*, we have $V_i \not\subset \Sigma_i$, so there exists integers $q_i, r_i \ge 1$, and a section $\sigma_i \in H^0(X_i, (\Lambda^{d_i} \Omega_{X_i})^{\otimes d_i})$ whose restriction to $(\Lambda^{d_i} T_{V_i^{\text{reg}}})^{\otimes q_i}$ vanishes at order r_i along $A_i|_{V_i}$. Then,

$$\sigma = (p_1^* \sigma_1)^{\otimes q_2} \otimes (p_2^* \sigma_2)^{\otimes q_1}$$

can be identified to a section in $H^0(X_1 \times X_2, (\Lambda^{d_1} p_1^* \Omega_{X_1} \otimes \Lambda^{d_2} p_2^* \Omega_{X_2})^{\otimes q_1 q_2})$. Since $\Lambda^{d_1} p_1^* \Omega_{X_1} \otimes \Lambda^{d_2} p_2^* \Omega_{X_2}$ is a direct factor of $\Lambda^d \Omega_X \cong \Lambda^{d_1+d_2}(p_1^* \Omega_{X_1} \oplus p_2^* \Omega_{X_2})$, we have obtained a section $\sigma \in H^0(X_1 \times X_2, (\Lambda^d \Omega_{X_1 \times X_2})^{\otimes q_1 q_2})$ which does not vanish along V.

Moreover, by construction, the restriction of σ to $(\Lambda^d T_{V^{\text{reg}}})^{\otimes q_1 q_2}$ vanishes along $B|_V$, where $B = q_2 r_1 p_1^* A_1 + q_1 r_2 p_2^* A_2$. Since $q_2 r_1, q_1 r_2 > 0$, this restriction vanishes along A. This gives the result.

In the case where $X_1 = X_2$, it is not hard to strengthen the property (H_{Σ}) to obtain sections σ invariant by permutation of X_1 and X_2 . More precisely, we have the following:

PROPOSITION 8.5. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety satisfying the property $(H_{\Sigma,A})$ for some $\Sigma \subsetneq X$ and some ample divisor A on X. Let $\Sigma' \subset X^m$ the subset of points with at least a coordinate in Σ . Let \mathfrak{S}_m act on X^m by permutation of the factors. Then, for any subvariety $V \subset X^m$ of dimension d and such that $V \not\subset \Sigma'$, there exists an integer $q \ge 1$, and a \mathfrak{S}_m -invariant section $\sigma \in$ $H^0(X^m, (\Lambda^d \Omega_X)^{\otimes q} \otimes \mathscr{O}(-A^{\sharp}))^{\mathfrak{S}_m}$ such that $\sigma|_{\Lambda^d T_{V^{\text{reg}}}} \not\equiv 0$.

Proof. – Let us recall that $A^{\sharp} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \operatorname{pr}_{i}^{*}A$. By Proposition 8.4, X^{m} satisfies the property $(H_{\Sigma',A^{\sharp}})$ so there exists $q_{0} \geq 1$ and a section $\sigma_{0} \in H^{0}(X^{m}, (\Lambda^{d} \Omega_{X})^{\otimes q_{0}})$, such that $\sigma_{0}|_{(\Lambda^{d} T_{V^{\mathrm{reg}}})^{\otimes q_{0}}}$ vanishes at order r_{0} along $A^{\sharp}|_{V}$.

Now, we let

$$\sigma = \bigotimes_{s \in \mathfrak{S}_m} s \cdot \sigma_0 \in H^0(X^m, (\Lambda^d \,\Omega_X)^{\otimes m! \, q_0}).$$

The section σ is \mathfrak{S}_m -invariant and vanishes along A^{\sharp} , hence satisfies our requirements.

We now show the main hyperbolicity result of this section which implies Theorem 6 as an immediate corollary.

THEOREM 20. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety with dim $X \ge 2$. Assume X satisfies $(H_{\Sigma,A})$ for some $\Sigma \subsetneq X$ and some ample divisor A on X.

Then, any subvariety $V \subseteq X_m$ such that $\operatorname{codim} V \leq n-2$ and $V \not\subset X_m^{\operatorname{sing}} \cup \mathfrak{d}_1(\Sigma)$ is of general type.

Proof. — Let $V \subset X_m$ be a *d*-dimensional variety satisfying the hypotheses above. We have then $d \ge (m-1)n+2$. Let $X^m \xrightarrow{p} X_m$ be the canonical projection. We do not lose generality in replacing A by a high multiple (the condition $(H_{\Sigma,A})$ is preserved), and then moving it in its linear equivalence class, so we can assume that $V \not\subset |A|$.

By Proposition 8.5, for $q \gg 0$, there exists a section $\sigma \in \Gamma(X^m, (\Lambda^p \Omega_{X^m})^{\otimes q})^{\mathfrak{S}_{\mathfrak{m}}}$, whose restriction to $(\Lambda^d T_{p^{-1}(V^{\operatorname{reg}})})^{\otimes q}$ vanishes along the \mathfrak{S}_m -invariant ample divisor A^{\sharp} . This section descends to X_m ; moreover, for any resolution of singularities \widetilde{X}_m , Lemma 8.1 shows that the Reid-Tai-Weissauer criterion of Proposition 2.1 is applicable. Hence, σ induces a section

$$\widetilde{\sigma} \in H^0(\widetilde{X}_m, (\Lambda^d \,\Omega_{\widetilde{X}_m})^{\otimes q}).$$

Moreover, the restriction of $\tilde{\sigma}$ to $\Lambda^d T_{V^{\text{reg}}}$ vanishes on the ample Cartier divisor A_{\flat} defined so that $p^*A_{\flat} = A^{\sharp}|_{V}$.

Consider now a resolution of singularities $\widetilde{V} \xrightarrow{\varphi} V$. The pullback $\varphi^* \sigma$ induces a section of $K_{\widetilde{V}}$ that vanishes on the big divisor $\varphi^* A_{\flat}$. This implies that $K_{\widetilde{V}}$ is big, so V is of general type.

REMARK 8.6. — The bound on dim V in Theorem 20 is sharp, as we can see from the following example. Let C be a genus 2 curve, and let Y be any (n-1)-dimensional variety with Ω_Y ample. Let $X = C \times Y$. This manifold satisfies property $(H_{\emptyset,A})$ for some ample divisor A by Propositions 8.3 and 8.4.

(1) In the case m = 2: let $f : S^2C \times Y \to S^2(C \times Y) = S^2X$ be the generically injective map

$$f([c_1, c_2], y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}) = [(c_1, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}), (c_2, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1})].$$

Since g(C) = 2, the variety $S^2(C)$ is birational to Jac(C) and thus $S^2C \times Y$ is not of general type.

(2) In the case $m \ge 2$, consider the composition of $f \times \operatorname{Id}_{X^{m-2}} : S^2C \times Y \times X^{m-2} \to S^2X \times X^{m-2}$ (where f is as above) and of the natural map $g : S^2X \times X^{m-2} \to S^mX$. We have dim $S^2C \times Y \times X^{m-2} = n(m-1) + 1$, and the image

$$V = (g \circ f)(S^2C \times Y \times X^{m-2})$$

in X_m is not of general type, since $S^2C \times Y \times X^{m-2}$ is not.

Note that if the Green-Griffiths-Lang conjecture were true, then Theorem 20 would imply the following result.

Conjecture 8.7. — Let X be a smooth complex projective variety with Ω_X ample. Then, codim $\operatorname{Exc}(X_m) \ge n-1$.

We can use Theorem 20 to prove a weaker statement, which will allow us to give geometric restrictions on the exceptional locus of rational curves, or of varieties with trivial canonical bundle. To formulate the next result, we will say that a class of varieties \mathscr{M} has *countable variation* if there exists a countable union B of smooth varieties and a smooth projective morphism $\mathscr{X} \to B$ with fibers in \mathscr{M} , such that any $V \in \mathscr{M}$ is isomorphic to a fiber in \mathscr{X} .

COROLLARY 8.8. — Let \mathscr{M} be a class of special varieties with countable variation. Assume that Ω_X is ample. Then, there exist countably many proper algebraic subsets $V_k \subsetneq X_m$ $(k \in \mathbb{N})$ containing the image of any non constant morphism $f: M \to X_m$,

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

where $M \in \mathcal{M}$. Moreover, the V_k can be chosen so that for any component W of $\mathfrak{D}_i(X_m)$ $(0 \leq i \leq n)$ containing V_k $(k \in \mathbb{N})$, we have $\operatorname{codim}_W(V) \geq n-1$.

In particular (letting i = 0 and $W = X_m$), we have $\operatorname{codim}_{X_m}(V_k) \ge n - 1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. — As the irreducible components of each $\mathfrak{D}_i(X_m)$ identify to copies of X_{m-i} , an increasing induction on m shows that it suffices to prove the claim for i = 0.

Let $\mathscr{X} \to B$ be a family exhausting the elements of \mathscr{M} , where B is a countable union of varieties. Consider the homomorphism scheme $H := \operatorname{Hom}_B(\mathscr{X}, X_m)$ (see [ACG11, Ch. I, §7]). There is a natural morphism $H \to B$ such that for each $b \in B$, the points of the fiber H_b identify with the set of morphisms in $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{X}_b, X_m)$. Also, $H \to B$ is such that the inverse images of affine open subsets of B are countable union of schemes of finite type, so H itself is such a countable union. This permits to write $(H \times_B \mathscr{X})_{\mathrm{red}} = \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} W_k$ as a countable union of varieties. By the universal property of H, there are natural morphisms $\pi : W_k \to X_m$, and for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there are two possibilities: either the generic fiber of $W_k \to H_{\mathrm{red}}$ is sent to a point in X, or not. Let (W'_k) be the subsequence of (W_k) of varieties such that this is not the case, and let $V_k = \pi(W'_k)$ be the associated images in X_m . We claim that the V_k satisfy our requirements.

Since a non-constant image of a special variety by a dominant morphism is special (see [Cam04, Lem. 2.9]), each V_k is covered by a dominant family of special subvarieties, hence is not of general type. Theorem 20 shows that $\operatorname{codim}_{X_m}(V_k) \ge n-1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Finally, if $f: M \to X_m$ is a non-constant morphism with $M \in \mathcal{M}$, then f(M) appears as the image in X_m of some fiber of a morphism $W_k \to B$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Also, since f is not constant, we have $W_k = W'_\ell$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$. This implies that $f(M) \subset V_\ell$ and we get the result.

The previous corollary of course applies to any single special variety (e.g. \mathbb{P}^1). The following proposition will show that it also applies to manifolds with trivial canonical bundle, thus completing the proof of Corollary 1.6.

PROPOSITION 8.9. — The projective smooth varieties with trivial canonical bundle form a class of special manifolds with countable variation.

Proof. — First of all, manifolds with $c_1 = 0$ are special by [Cam04, Cor. 2.28]. Let us now show that the projective manifolds Y with K_Y trivial have countable variation. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and let χ be a fixed Hilbert polynomial of degree n. Consider the open subset $H^\circ \subset \operatorname{Hilb}_{\chi}(\mathbb{P}^n)_{\mathrm{red}}$ parametrizing smooth subvarieties of \mathbb{P}^n . Let now $\mathscr{Y} \to H^\circ$ be the universal family: inside \mathscr{Y} , the fibers with trivial canonical bundle are characterized by the condition $h^0(Y_t, K_{Y_t}) = h^0(Y_t, K_{Y_t}^{-1}) = 1$. This is a constructible condition by upper semicontinuity of h^0 , so there exists a finite union of open subvarieties $W_{n,\chi} \subset H^\circ$ supporting all the submanifolds $Y \subset \mathbb{P}^n$ with K_Y trivial and Hilbert polynomial χ . Taking the union of the $W_{n,\chi}$ for all possible n and χ gives the result.

We can also prove Corollary 1.7, as the following statement, similar to [AA03, Cor. 4].

COROLLARY 8.10. — Assume that Ω_X is ample, and let $Y \subset X$ be a closed submanifold. Let $1 \leq \ell \leq d$ be integers. Assume that for a generic point $p \in Y_\ell \times X_{d-\ell}$, there exists a curve of geometric genus g in X such that all d coordinate points of p lie in C. Then if

$$\ell \cdot \operatorname{codim} Y \leqslant \dim X - 2,$$

we have g > d.

Proof. — Assume that $g \leq d$. By hypothesis, there exist $\mathscr{C} \to V$ a family of curves and a morphism $f : \mathscr{C} \to X$, such that the image Z of $Y_{\ell} \times X_{d-\ell} \to X_d$ is dominated by the image of $S^d f : S^d \mathscr{C} \to X_d$. As in [AA03], we may replace V be a hyperplane section to assume that $S^d f$ is generically finite.

Since $g \leq d$, the family $\mathscr{S}^{d}\mathscr{C} \to V$ is a family of varieties which are not of general type (the fiber over t is a \mathbb{P}^{d-g} -bundle over $\operatorname{Jac}(C_t)$), and hence Z is not of general type as well. Since dim $Z = \dim Y_\ell \times X_{d-\ell}$, Theorem 20 implies dim $(Y_\ell \times X_{d-\ell}) < (d-1)\dim X + 2$, hence

$$\dim Y < \frac{1}{\ell} \left((\ell - 1) \dim X + 2 \right),$$

which gives the result.

9. Metric methods

We will now present a metric point of view on these symmetric products of varieties, which will permit to give several applications to quotients of bounded symmetric domains.

We will use a metric hyperbolicity criterion similar to the one of [Cad21]. To express this criterion, we need first to introduce several constants bounding the Ricci curvature on subvarieties of the domain. Let us recall how to define these constants.

Let Ω be a bounded symmetric domain of dimension n, and let h_{Ω} be the Bergman metric on this domain. If $X, Y \in T_{\Omega,x}$ $(x \in \Omega)$, we can define the *bisectional curvature* of h_{Ω} as

$$B(X,Y) = \frac{i\Theta(h_{\Omega})(X,\overline{X},Y,\overline{Y})}{\|X\|_{h_{\Omega}}^{2}}\|Y\|_{h_{\Omega}}^{2}}.$$

Fix $p \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, we define

(5)
$$C_p = -\max_{X \in T_{\Omega,x}} \max_{V \ni X, \dim V = p} \sum_{i=1}^p B(X, e_i),$$

where $V \subset T_{\Omega,x}$ runs among the *p*-dimensional subspaces containing X, and $(e_i)_{1 \leq i \leq p}$ is any unitary basis of V. Since Ω is homogeneous, this constant does not depend on $x \in \Omega$.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

416

Then, if we normalize the Bergman metric so that $C_n = 1$, we have a sequence of positive constants

$$0 < C_1 \leqslant C_2 \leqslant \cdots \leqslant C_n = 1.$$

These constants can be used to state the following criterion for the *p*-hyperbolicity of compactification of a quotient of Ω .

PROPOSITION 9.1 (see [Cad21]). — Let M be a complex smooth projective variety, and $D, E = \sum_i (1 - \alpha_i) E_i$ be \mathbb{Q} -divisors on X such that the support $|E| \cup |D|$ has normal crossings. Let $U = M \setminus (|D| \cup |E|)$, and let h be a smooth Kähler metric on U, possibly degenerate. Let $p \in [\![1, \dim M]\!]$ and let $\alpha > 1/C_p$ be a rational number. We make the following assumptions.

(i) h is non-degenerate outside an algebraic subset $Z \subset M$, and is modeled after h_{Ω} on $U \smallsetminus Z$;

(ii) the metric induced by h on $\Lambda^d T_M$ has singularities near any point of $|E_i| \leq (|D| \cup Z)$ with coefficients of order at most $O(|z|^{2(\alpha_i-1)})$;

(iii) there exists an integer $\ell \ge 1$ and a non-zero section s of $K_U^{\otimes \ell}$ such that $\|s\|_{(\det h^*)^{\ell}}^{2/\ell}$ extends as a continuous function u on M, vanishing along E + D at an order strictly larger than $1/C_p$. If z is a local equation for a component of weight β in D + E, this means that $u = O(|z|^{\beta(1+\varepsilon)/C_p})$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$ (recall that $\beta = 1$ for the components of D, and $\beta = 1 - \alpha_i$ for the E_i).

Then,

(a) For any subvariety $V \subset M$ with $V \not\subset Z(s) \cup E \cup D \cup Z$ and $\dim V \ge p$, $\dim V$ is of general type.

(b) For any holomorphic map $f : \mathbb{C}^p \to M$ with $\operatorname{Jac}(f)$ generically of maximal rank, we have $f(\mathbb{C}^p) \subset Z(s) \cup E \cup D \cup Z$.

Proof. — The metric h satisfies all the assumptions permitting to apply the proof of Theorem 2 and Theorem 8 of [Cad21]. Let us recall that the technique of this proof consists in forming the metric $\tilde{h} = ||s||_{(\det h^*)^m}^{2\beta} h$ for an adequate $\beta > 0$. We then check that \tilde{h} induces a positively curved singular metric on the canonical bundle of a desingularization of any subvariety V as in the hypotheses. In the case of a map $f : \mathbb{C}^p \to M$, we apply the Ahlfors-Schwarz lemma (see [Dem12, 4.2]) to this metric to obtain a contradiction if $f(\mathbb{C}^p) \not\subset Z(s) \cup E \cup D \cup Z$.

REMARK 9.2. — Assume that $X = \Gamma \setminus \Omega$ is a quotient by an arithmetic lattice, and let $q: M \to \overline{X}^{BB}$ be a log-resolution of the singularities of the Baily-Borel compactification of X. Let $U \subset X$ be the smooth locus, and E_i (resp. D_j) be the components of the exceptional divisor whose projection intersects X_{sing} (resp. whose projection lies in $\overline{X}^{BB} \setminus X$). For each i, let x_i be a generic point of the projection of E_i on \overline{X}^{BB} . Let $H_i \subset \Gamma$ be the isotropy group of x_i , and let α_i be such that the action of H_i on Ω satisfies the condition (I'_{x,d,α_i}) of Section 2.1. We associate the multiplicity α_i to E_i by putting $E = \sum_i (1 - \alpha_i) E_i$. We also let $D = \sum_i D_i$.

With this notation, as explained in [Cad21, §4], the hypotheses (i) and (ii) of Proposition 9.1 are satisfied. The condition (iii) is implied by the following more algebraic condition.

(iii') For $\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}^*_+$, let $L_{\alpha} = q^* K_{\overline{X}^{BB}} \otimes \mathscr{O}(-\alpha(D+E))$. Then L_{α} is effective for some $\alpha > 1/C_p$.

Moreover, Z(s) in (a) and (b) can then be replaced by the stable base locus $\mathbb{B}(L_{\alpha})$.

REMARK 9.3. — We can generalize the conclusion (b) of Proposition 9.1 to the following situation. Assume that there exists a proper birational holomorphic map $q: M \to M_0$, where M_0 is a possibly singular complex variety. Then, under the assumption of the theorem, we can state the following:

(b') Let $W = q(Z(s) \cup E \cup D \cup Z)$. Then for any holomorphic map $f : \mathbb{C}^p \to M_0$ with $\operatorname{Jac}(f)$ generically of maximal rank, we have $f(\mathbb{C}^p) \subset W \cup (M_0)_{\operatorname{sing}}$.

To prove this statement, assume by contradiction that there exists a $f : \mathbb{C}^p \to M_0$ that fails to satisfy the conclusion of (b'). Let C be a resolution of singularities of the main component of the fiber product $\mathbb{C}^p \times_{(f,q)} M$. Then, there exists a proper morphism $g : C \to \mathbb{C}^p$, birational outside a locally finite union of analytic subvarieties of \mathbb{C}^p , and there exists a natural map $h : C \to M$, generically non-degenerate, whose image intersects $U \setminus (Z \cup Z(s) \cup E)$. Construct \tilde{h} is as the proof of Proposition 9.1. Then, the metric $g^*\tilde{h}$ on C is subject to the following version of the Ahlfors-Schwarz lemma.

LEMMA 9.4. — Let $g: C \to \mathbb{C}^p$ be a proper holomorphic map, realizing an isomorphism outside a countable union of analytic subvarieties of \mathbb{C}^p . Then T_C cannot admit any singular metric h, with det h everywhere locally bounded, smooth on a dense open Zariski subset U, and satisfying the following inequality on U:

(6)
$$dd^c \log \det h \ge \varepsilon \omega_h \qquad (\varepsilon > 0).$$

Proof. — Assume by contradiction that there exists such a metric. We may assume that g is an isomorphism on some open subset $V \subset C$ containing U. We may then see h as a metric on $V \subset \mathbb{C}^p$, satisfying (6) on U. As det h is everywhere locally bounded on V, and since $dd^c \log \det h \ge 0$ on $U \subset V$, the function $\log \det h$ is psh on V. Besides, as \mathbb{C}^p is normal, we have $\operatorname{codim}(\mathbb{C}^p \setminus V) \ge 2$, so $\log \det h$ extends to the whole \mathbb{C}^p as a psh function, satisfying (6) in the sense of currents. This case is however ruled out by the standard Ahlfors-Schwarz lemma stated in [Dem12].

Our plan is to use the previous proposition in the case where X is a resolution of singularities of a symmetric product of a quotient of a bounded symmetric domain. To do so, we will need some estimates on the C_p when the domain is of the form Ω^m $(m \in \mathbb{N})$. The case p = 1 is fairly easy to settle: in this case, $-C_1$ is just the maximum of the holomorphic sectional curvature, and we have the following well-known result.

PROPOSITION 9.5. — Let Ω be a bounded symmetric domain, and denote by $-\gamma$ the maximum of the holomorphic sectional curvature on Ω . Then we have

$$C_1(\Omega^m) = \frac{1}{m} C_1(\Omega) = \frac{\gamma}{m}.$$

This can be checked directly by writing the formula for the bisectional curvature of Ω^m , or by remarking that by the polydisk theorem (see [Mok89]), it suffices to deal with the case where $\Omega = \Delta^n$. In this case the holomorphic sectional curvature is maximal in the direction of the long diagonals, and the formula can be easily derived.

We can use now use this result to study the case of ramified coverings of *smooth* compact quotients of bounded symmetric domains.

PROPOSITION 9.6. — Let $Y = \Gamma \setminus \Omega$ be a smooth compact quotient, let $p : X \to Y$ be a Block-Gieseker covering, and let $\delta = s/r$ be a positive rational number such that be such that $p^*K_Y^{\otimes r} = A^{\otimes s}$ for some very ample line bundle A. Let $W \subset X$ be the locus where p is non-étale.

Then if $m \in \mathbb{N}$ is such that

$$\gamma \,\delta > 2m(m-1),$$

the variety X_m is Brody hyperbolic modulo $\mathfrak{d}_1(W)$.

Proof. — Let $q: M \to X_m$ be a log-resolution of singularities, let $E \subset M$ be the exceptional locus, and Z be the preimage of $\mathfrak{d}_1(W)$. Let h_Y be the pullback of the Bergman metric on Y. This metric is smooth on Y, and non degenerate on $Y \setminus W$. This metric induces in turn a natural metric on the smooth locus of Y_m , and by pullback, a smooth metric h on $M \setminus E$.

Let us check that the conditions of Proposition 9.1 are satisfied for p = 1. Since h_Y is non-degenerate and modeled on h_{Ω} on $X \setminus W$, the metric h is non-degenerate and modeled on h_{Ω^m} on $M \setminus (E \cup Z)$, so the condition (i) is satisfied.

It follows directly from the discussion of Section 2.2 that the condition $(I'_{x,1,1})$ is satisfied for every $x \in X^m$. Hence, the condition (ii) holds for $E = \sum_i E_i$.

Let $x \in M \setminus E$. By Proposition 7.3, for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a section σ of $q^*A_{\flat}^{\otimes sN} \otimes (-Ns/2(m-1)|E|)$ that does not vanish at x. By hypothesis, the line bundles $(A_{\flat})^{\otimes s}|_{X_m^{\text{reg}}}$ and $K_{X_m^{\text{reg}}}^{\otimes r}$ coincide. Thus, if N is divisible enough, σ can be seen as a section of the line bundle $(q^*K_{X_m} \otimes \mathcal{O}(-\delta/2(m-1)E))^{\otimes rN}$. Finally, the holomorphic sections of $q^*K_{X_m}^{\otimes rN}$ have bounded norm for the norm induced by h, which shows that (iii) is satisfied if $\delta > 2(m-1)/C_1(\Omega^m) = 2m(m-1)/\gamma$. This is precisely our hypothesis. Moreover, since $x \in M \setminus E$ is arbitrary, the locus cut out by the sections σ is included in $M \setminus E$. The conclusion follows as announced from Proposition 9.1.

The following result of Hwang-To can be used to give a more explicit constant δ in the proposition above.

THEOREM 21 ([HT00]). — For any smooth compact quotient of a bounded symmetric domain X, there exists a finite étale cover X' such that $2K_{X'}$ is very ample.

This gives immediately the following series of examples.

EXAMPLE 4. — Let $Y_0 = \Gamma \setminus \Omega$ be a smooth compact quotient, and let $Y_1 \to Y_0$ be the étale cover provided by [HT00]. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$, and let q be an integer such that $q > 4m(m-1)/\gamma$.

Now let $X \xrightarrow{p} Y_1$ be a Bloch-Gieseker covering such that $p^*(K_{Y_1}^{\otimes 2}) = A^{\otimes q}$, with A very ample. Then, we have $\delta \gamma = q\gamma/2 > 2m(m-1)$, so that X_m is Brody hyperbolic modulo $\mathfrak{d}_1(\operatorname{Sing}(p))$.

EXAMPLE 5. — For $i \in [\![1, n]\!]$, let X_i be a smooth projective curve of genus $g \ge 2$, and fix some integer q. For all i, since $3K_{X_i}$ is very ample, we can perform a q-fold Bloch-Gieseker covering $p_i : X'_i \to X_i$, so that $p_i^*(3K_{X_i}) = A_i^{\otimes q}$, with A_i very ample on X'_i .

Letting $X = X'_1 \times \cdots \times X'_n \xrightarrow{p} X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n = Y$, we have then $p^* K_Y^{\otimes 3} = A^{\otimes q}$, where $A = \bigotimes_{1 \leq j \leq n} p_j^* K_{X_j}$ is very ample on X. The manifold Y is a smooth compact quotient of Δ^n , and $\gamma = 1/n$ for this domain. Proposition 9.6 shows then X_m is Brody hyperbolic modulo $(X_m)_{\text{sing}}$ as soon as

$$q \ge 6m(m-1)n.$$

9.1. Non-compact ball quotients. — In the case where the domain is the ball, it is possible to give explicit values for the constants C_p . The result can be stated as follows when dim $\Omega \ge 5$.

PROPOSITION 9.7. — We let $\Omega = \mathbb{B}^n$ for some $n \ge 5$. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, and fix $p \in [\![1, mn]\!]$. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ (resp. $d \in [\![0, n-1]\!]$) be the quotient (resp. the remainder) in the Euclidean division of p-1 by n. Then the value of $C_p(\Omega^m)$ is given by the table of Figure 1.

	m-k=1	m-k=2	m-k=3	m - k = 4	$m-k \geqslant 5$
d = 0	$\frac{d+2}{n+1}$	$\frac{2}{(m-k)(n+1)}$			
d = 1		$\frac{23}{16} \frac{1}{n+1}$	$\frac{11}{12}\frac{1}{n+1}$	$\frac{21}{32}\frac{1}{n+1}$	
d=2		$\frac{7}{4}\frac{1}{n+1}$			
d = 3		$\frac{31}{16} \frac{1}{n+1}$		$\frac{2}{m-k-1}\frac{1}{n+1}$	
$d \geqslant 4$					

FIGURE 1. Values of C_p for the domain $(\mathbb{B}^n)^m$

Note the similarity with the case where Ω is the Siegel upper half-space (see [Cad21, Prop. 1.4]). We will prove Proposition 9.7 in Section 9.2. As an application, we can derive a proof of Theorem 7 as a corollary of our metric criterion:

COROLLARY 9.8. — Let $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathbb{B}^n$ be a ball quotient by a torsion free lattice with only unipotent parabolic elements, and let $\overline{X} = X \cup D$ be a smooth minimal compactification as constructed in [Mok12]. Let $m \ge 1$. Then :

(a) Let $V \subset \overline{X}_m$ be a subvariety with codim $V \leq n-6$ and $V \not\subset \mathfrak{d}_1(D) \cup (\overline{X}_m)_{\text{sing}}$. Then V is of general type.

(b) Let $p \ge n(m-1) + 6$, and $f : \mathbb{C}^p \to \overline{X}_m$ be a holomorphic map such that $f(\mathbb{C}^p) \not\subset \mathfrak{d}_1(D) \cup (\overline{X}_m)_{\text{sing}}$. Then $\operatorname{Jac}(f)$ is identically degenerate.

Proof. – Let $q: \widetilde{X} \to \overline{X}_m$ be a resolution of singularities. We may assume that $F = q^{-1}(\mathfrak{d}_1(D) \cup (\overline{X}_m)_{\text{sing}})$ is a simple normal crossing divisor. Let \widetilde{D} denote the sum of components of F that project in $\mathfrak{d}_1(D)$, and E the sum of all other components.

Let $p \ge n(m-1)+6$ be an integer. By Proposition 9.7, since $p \ge n(m-1)+6$, the constant C_p is given by the first column of Figure 1, and $C_p = p - n(m-1) + 1/n + 1 > 2\pi/n + 1$.

Let *h* be the metric induced on $U = \widetilde{X} \setminus (E+D)$. Let us check that the assumptions of Proposition 9.1 are satisfied, with $\Omega = (\mathbb{B}^n)^m$. (i) is obvious, taking $Z = \emptyset$. By Lemma 8.1, since $p \ge n(m-1) + 2$, the condition $(I_{x,p})$ is satisfied above any singular point of \overline{X}_m , so Remark 9.2 implies that the hypothesis (ii) is satisfied with $\alpha_i = 1$ for any component $E_i \subset E$.

To prove (iii), we make use of [BT18], whose main result shows that the line bundle $K_{\overline{X}} + (1 - \alpha)D$ is ample for any $\alpha > (n + 1)/2\pi$. Let $\alpha \in]1/C_p, (n + 1)/2\pi[$. Thus, for $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ large enough, and any $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \overline{X}^m \setminus \bigcup_{i=1} \operatorname{pr}_i^{-1}(D)$, we can find a section σ of $\ell(K_{\overline{X}} + (1 - \alpha)D)$, such that $\sigma(x_i) \neq 0$ ($1 \leq i \leq m$). Let $s^{\sharp} = \bigotimes_{1 \leq j \leq m} \operatorname{pr}_j^* \sigma$. This is a \mathfrak{S}_m -invariant section of $K_{X^m}^{\otimes \ell}$, which descends to a section s of $K_U^{\otimes \ell}$. Let $u = \|s\|_{(\det h^*)^{\ell}}^{2/\ell}$.

We need to check the conditions on the growth of u near $E + \widetilde{D}$. First, u is bounded near any point of E since $\|s^{\sharp}\|_{(\det h_{\Omega}^{*})^{\ell}}$ is continuous on the manifold X^{m} . Besides, by [Mum77, Th. 3.1 & Prop. 3.4(b)], the determinant of the Bergman metric on $K_{\overline{X}} + D$ has logarithmic growth near D. Hence, since σ , seen as a section of $\ell(K_{\overline{X}} + D)$, vanishes at order $\ell \alpha$ along D, then the function $\|s^{\sharp}\|_{\det h_{\Omega}^{*}}^{2} = \prod_{i} \operatorname{pr}_{i}^{*} \|s\|_{h_{\mathbb{B}^{n}}}$ vanishes at any order $< \ell \alpha$ near $\operatorname{pr}_{i}^{*}D$. Now $\|s^{\sharp}\|_{(\det h_{\Omega}^{*})^{\ell}}^{2/\ell} = u \circ \pi$, where $\pi : \overline{X}^{m} \to \overline{X}_{m}$ is the projection, so u vanishes at order α near any point of $\widetilde{D} \smallsetminus E$. As $\alpha > 1/C_{p}$, the section s satisfies the condition (iii).

Finally, since x was arbitrary outside $\bigcup_{1 \leq i \leq m} \operatorname{pr}_i^* D$, we conclude from Proposition 9.1 that all p-dimensional varieties $V \subset \widetilde{X}$, not included in $E + \widetilde{D}$, are of general type. This proves (a).

The proof of (b) follows from the conclusion (b') in Remark 9.3, applied with $M = \widetilde{X}$, and $M_0 = \overline{X}_m$.

9.2. COMPUTATION OF THE CURVATURE CONSTANTS FOR THE DOMAIN $(\mathbb{B}^n)^m$. — We now prove Proposition 9.7. We will proceed as in [Cad21], and introduce a certain combinatorial functional whose minimum will give us the value of $C_p(\Omega^m)$.

B. CADOREL, F. CAMPANA & E. ROUSSEAU

Definition 9.9. - Let

 $\Delta_m = \{ (r_1, \dots, r_m) \in (\mathbb{R}_+)^m \mid \sum_{1 \leq j \leq m} r_j = 1 \text{ and } r_1 \geq r_2 \geq \dots \geq r_m \}.$

Let $\underline{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_m) \in \Delta_m$ and $\Gamma \subset [\![1, m]\!] \times [\![1, n]\!]$. Denote by k the number of elements of Γ in the first column. We assume that $k \leq m - 1$. We define:

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = \begin{cases} 2 + \sum_{(i,j)\in\Gamma, \ i\geqslant 2} r_i & \text{if } k = m-1, \\ 2 \sum_{1\leqslant i\leqslant m} r_i^2 + 2 \sum_{(i,1)\in\Gamma} r_i + \sum_{(i,j)\in\Gamma, \ j\geqslant 2} r_i & \text{if } k\leqslant m-2. \end{cases}$$

From now on, we fix a given minimizer (\underline{r}, Γ) for \mathscr{F} , where $\underline{r} \in \Delta_m$, and Γ runs among cardinal p-1 subsets of $[\![1,m]\!] \times [\![1,n]\!]$ with less than m-1 elements on the first column. Let k be the number of these elements. We will assume that (\underline{r}, Γ) is chosen among all the minimizers so that

(1) $\underline{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_m)$ has the maximal number of zero components;

(2) among all minimizing pairs (\underline{r}, Γ) satisfying (2), Γ is chosen so that k is maximal.

We can make a simple remark on the geometry of Γ . Let

$$\Pi = \Gamma \cap (\llbracket 1, m \rrbracket \times \llbracket 2, n \rrbracket)$$

be the set of elements of Γ which are outside of the first column. For each $i \in [\![1,m]\!]$, denote by b_i the number of elements of Π which are on the *i*-th line. Then, since $r_1 \ge \cdots \ge r_m$, we see from the formula for \mathscr{F} that we may suppose that the elements of Π are the largest possible in the lexicographic order. This implies that for some $q \in [\![0,m]\!]$, $d \in [\![0,n-2]\!]$, we have $b_{m-j} = n-1$ ($0 \le j \le q-1$), $b_{m-q} = d$, and $b_{m-j} = 0$ ($m \le j \le q+1$).

LEMMA 9.10. — Let ℓ be the maximal integer such that $r_{m-\ell+1} = \cdots = r_m = 0$. We have $\ell = k$.

Proof. — The proof is exactly the same as the one of [Cad21, Lem. 3.8], replacing g by m, Γ_0 by Γ , and "off-diagonal" by "off the first column".

The previous proof relies on the following lemma, which will be used frequently in the following.

LEMMA 9.11 (see [Cad21, Lem. 3.9]). — Let $a_1 \leq \cdots \leq a_m$ be non-negative integers, and let t be the smallest integer such that $\sum_{i=1}^{t} (a_t - a_i) \geq 4$ (let t = m + 1 if there is no such integer). Let $\underline{r} \in \Delta_m$ be a minimizer for the quadratic form

$$Q(r_1, \dots, r_m) = 2 \sum_{i=1}^m r_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^m a_i r_i.$$

Then $r_t = \cdots = r_m = 0$.

We will now compute the several possible values for the minimum $\mathscr{F}(\underline{r}, \Gamma)$. We will proceed by distinguishing along the value of k. There is one simple first case.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

422

Lemma 9.12. - If k = m - 1, then

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = 2 + b_1.$$

Proof. - In this case, we have

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = 2 + \sum_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant m} b_i r_i.$$

Recall that the b_i are non-decreasing. Since \underline{r} must be an extremum of the function $\mathscr{F}(\cdot, \Gamma)$, we see that we may chose $r = (1, 0, \dots, 0)$, which gives the result.

We will now assume that $k \leq m-2$, and distinguish several subcases.

Case 0. q < k. — In this situation, since $r_{m-k+1} = \cdots = r_m = 0$, we simply have $\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = 2\sum_{i=1}^{m-k} r_i^2$. The minimum is then reached for $(r_1,\ldots,r_m) = (\frac{1}{m-k},\ldots,\frac{1}{m-k},0,\ldots,0)$, and the value of the minimum is

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = \frac{2}{m-k}$$

Assumption. — In the remaining cases 1 and 2 below, we will assume that $q \ge k$, which means that $r_{m-q} \ne 0$.

Case 1. $d \ge 1$. — By our previous description of the shape of Π , this implies that two subcases are a priori possible.

Case 1a. $-q \ge k+1$, i.e., the line $\{m-k\} \times [\![2, n-1]\!]$ is included in Γ .

Case 1b. -q = k i.e., the only elements of $[\![1, m-k]\!] \times [\![2, n-1]\!]$ in Γ are the d last elements of $\{m-k\} \times [\![2, n-1]\!]$.

Lemma 9.13. — The case 1a. cannot occur.

Proof. — In the case 1a, since $r_{m-k} \neq 0$, Lemma 9.11 shows that

i

$$\sum_{\leqslant m-k} (b_{m-k} - b_i) \leqslant 3.$$

Hence, all elements of $[\![1, m - k]\!] \times [\![2, n - 1]\!]$ are in Γ , except δ elements on the first line, with $1 \leq \delta \leq 3$. (If $\delta = 0$, we would have d = 0).

This shows that $b_1 = n - 1 - \delta$, with $1 \leq \delta \leq 3$, and $b_j = n - 1$ $(2 \leq j \leq m - k)$. In this setting, the minimizer <u>r</u> is of the form $(x, y, \dots, y, 0, \dots, 0)$ where y is repeated m - k - 1 times, and x + (m - k - 1)y = 1. Let b = m - k - 1.

The minimum then equals

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = 2x^2 + 2by^2 + (n-1) - \delta x.$$

We claim that $b \leq 2$. Indeed, if $b \geq 3$, since $n-1 \geq 4$, we can remove $4-\delta$ elements on the first line of Γ , to get a new set Γ' . If $\underline{r}' \in \Delta_m$ is a minimizer for the functional $\mathscr{F}(\cdot, \Gamma')$, we have $r'_2 = \cdots = r'_m = 0$ by Lemma 9.11. Since $b \geq 3$, there is enough room on the first column of Γ' to add back the $4 - \delta$ elements, which gives a new set Γ'' with strictly more elements on the first column than Γ . Now

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r}',\Gamma'') = \mathscr{F}(\underline{r}',\Gamma') \leqslant \mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma') \leqslant \mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma).$$

(The first equality comes from the fact the $r'_2 = \cdots = r'_m = 0$, and the inequalities are obvious since all r_i are non-negative). This gives a contradiction with our choice of (\underline{r}, Γ) .

The same computation as in [Cad21, Lem. 3.14] shows that the case b = 1 is impossible.

Let us finally exclude the case b = 2. In this situation $\underline{r} = (x, y, y, 0, ..., 0)$ minimizes $\mathscr{F}(\underline{r}, \Gamma) = 2x^2 + 4y^2 + (n-1) - \delta x$, with the constraint x + 2y = 1. We check that the minimum is equal to

$$n - \frac{(2+\delta)^2}{12}.$$

Since b = 2, there are two elements of $[\![1,m]\!] \times \{1\}$ which are not in Γ , and we can move two elements of the first row Γ to get a new set Γ' with m-1 elements in the first column. Letting $\underline{r}' = (1, 0, \ldots, 0)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{F}(\underline{r}',\Gamma') &= 2 + (n-1) - (\delta+2) \\ &= n - 1 - \delta \\ &< n - \frac{(2+\delta)^2}{12} = \mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma), \end{aligned}$$

since $\delta \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. This is a contradiction.

Lemma 9.14. — In the case 1b, there are only 5 possibilities, which are given in the table of Figure 2.

Proof. — In this case, we have $b_{m-q} = d$, and this is the only non-zero b_j with $j \leq m-l$. By Lemma 9.11 again, we have $d(m-k-1) \leq 3$ since $r_{m-k} \neq 0$. Since $d \neq 0$ and $m-k \geq 2$ in the case under study, this gives only only five possibilities. The corresponding values for the minimum of $\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = 2\sum_{j=1}^{m-k} r_j^2 + dr_{m-k}$ were computed in [Cad21, Case 2].

	m-k=2	m-k=3	m-k=4
d = 1	$\frac{23}{16}$	$\frac{11}{12}$	$\frac{21}{32}$
d = 2	$\frac{7}{4}$		
d = 3	$\frac{31}{16}$		

FIGURE 2. Possible values of the minimum of \mathscr{F} in the case 1b

There is only one remaining case.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

Case 2. d = 0.

LEMMA 9.15. — Case 2 cannot occur unless Γ is of the form $[m-k+1,m] \times [1,n]$. The value of the minimum is then

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = \frac{2}{m-k}.$$

Proof. – If Γ is not of the prescribed form, we have

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = 2\sum_{1 \leq j \leq m-k} r_j^2 + (n-1) \sum_{j=m-q+1}^{m-\kappa} r_j,$$

with q < k. Applying another time Lemma 9.11, since $r_{m-k} \neq 0$, we have $(n-1)(m-q) \leq 3$ for all $t \geq 1$. As we assumed that $n \geq 5$, this implies that q = m, i.e., Γ contains all the elements which are not on the first column. The minimum is then reached for \underline{r} of the form $\underline{r} = (\frac{1}{m-k}, \ldots, \frac{1}{m-k}, 0, \ldots, 0)$ (1/(m-k)) repeated m-k times), and its value is

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma) = \frac{2}{m-k} + (n-1).$$

However, this is absurd. Indeed, let Γ' be obtained from Γ by moving elements to its m - k - 1 empty slots on the first column (recall that we consider sets with at most m - 1 elements on the first column).

If $m - k \ge 3$, we may then assume that Γ' has less than (n - 1) - 2 elements on the first line. Letting $\underline{r}' = (1, 0, \dots, 0)$, we get

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r}',\Gamma') \leqslant 2 + (n-3) < \frac{2}{m-k} + (n-1) = \mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma),$$

which is a contradiction.

If m - k = 2, we may move one element, and assume that Γ' has n - 2 elements on the first line. Then, letting again $\underline{r}' = (1, 0, \dots, 0)$, we get

$$\mathscr{F}(\underline{r}',\Gamma') = 2 + (n-2) = \frac{2}{m-k} + (n-1) = \mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma).$$

This is again a contradiction, since we assumed that Γ had the maximal number of elements on the first column.

Putting everything together, we have proved the following.

PROPOSITION 9.16. — Let $p \in [\![1, mn]\!]$. Let $k = \lfloor (p-1)/n \rfloor$, and d = p-1-kn. Let (\underline{r}, Γ) be a minimizer for \mathscr{F} , where $\underline{r} \in \Delta_m$, and $\Gamma \subset [\![1, m]\!] \times [\![1, n]\!]$ is a cardinal p-1 subset with less that m-1 elements on the first column. Then

(1) the value of $\mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma)$ is given by the table of Figure 3;

(2) we may choose (\underline{r}, Γ) so that the elements of Γ in the first column are the (j, 1) with $j \ge m - k + 1$, and so that $r_{m-k+1} = \cdots = r_m = 0$.

We will now show that the previously computed maxima permit to give the constant C_p . Let us recall how this constant can be computed.

	m-k=1	m-k=2	m-k=3	m - k = 4	$m-k \geqslant 5$
r = 0		$\frac{2}{m-k}$			
d = 1	d+2	$\frac{23}{16}$	$\frac{11}{12}$	$\frac{21}{32}$	
d = 2		$\frac{7}{4}$			
r = 3		$\frac{31}{16}$	$\frac{2}{m-k-1}$		
$d \geqslant 4$					

Figure 3. Values of the maxima of \mathscr{F}

In the following, if Ω is a bounded symmetric domain, and X is a vector tangent to Ω , we will denote by $B_0^{\Omega}(X, \cdot)$ the following bilinear form:

$$B_0^{\Omega}(X, \cdot): Y \longmapsto i\Theta(h_{\Omega})(X, \overline{X}, Y, \overline{Y})$$

Let $X \in T_{\Omega,0}$ be a unitary vector. Let $V \subset T_{\Omega^m,0}$ be a *d*-dimensional vector space containing X. We now assume that the pair (X, V) realizes the maximum of (5). We let $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{B}^n)^m$ act on Ω so that X decomposes in the direct sum $T_{\Omega,0} = (T_{\mathbb{B}^n,0})^{\oplus m}$ as $X = (\alpha_1 e_1^1, \ldots, \alpha_m e_1^m)$, where (e_1^i, \ldots, e_n^i) denotes a unitary basis of the *i*-th factor $T_{\mathbb{B}^n}$. We let $r_i = \alpha_i^2$ $(1 \leq i \leq m)$, so that $\sum_{1 \leq i \leq m} r_i = 1$. We may assume that $r_1 \geq r_2 \geq \cdots \geq r_m$.

By our choice of (X, V), we have

(7)
$$C_p = -B_0(X, X) + \sum_{\lambda \in S(V)} \lambda,$$

where S(V) is the set of the p-1 eigenvalues of the restriction of the hermitian form $-B_0(X, \cdot)$ to $X^{\perp} \cap V$ (with multiplicities). We let $W \subset V$ be a (p-1)-dimensional vector subspace, spanned by corresponding eigenvectors, so that $V = \mathbb{C}X \oplus^{\perp} W$.

Let us now explain how to compute the eigenvalues of the hermitian form $B_0^{\Omega}(X, \cdot)$ on the space $T_{\Omega,0}$. First, it is easy to show that for $U = (U_1, \ldots, U_m), V = (V_1, \ldots, V_m)$ in $T_{\Omega,0}$, we have

$$B_0^{\Omega}(U,V) = \sum_{1 \leqslant m} B_0^{\mathbb{B}^n}(U_i,V_i).$$

To simplify the computation, we will temporarily adopt a new normalization on $h_{\mathbb{B}^n}$, so that for any $U \in T_{\mathbb{B}^n,0}$, the eigenspaces of $-B_0^{\mathbb{B}^n}(U,\cdot)$ are

$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{C} \cdot U & \text{for the eigenvalue } 2 \|U\|^2; \\ U^{\perp} \subset T_{\mathbb{B}^n} & \text{for the eigenvalue } \|U\|. \end{cases}$$

Thus, with this normalization, the eigenvalues of $B_0^{\Omega}(X, \cdot)$ are $2r_i$ (with multiplicity 1, and eigenvector e_1^i) and r_i (with multiplicity n-1, with eigenvectors e_2^i, \ldots, e_n^i), for $i \in [1, m]$.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

PROPOSITION 9.17. — With the above normalization, the constant C_p is equal to the minimum of \mathscr{F} .

The proof is the same as in [Cad21], so we will only sketch it briefly.

LEMMA 9.18. — We have $C_p \ge \min_{\underline{r},\Gamma} \mathscr{F}(\underline{r},\Gamma)$, where $\underline{r} \in \Delta_m$, and $\Gamma \subset [\![1,m]\!] \times [\![1,n]\!]$ runs among the cardinal p-1 subsets with less that m-1 elements on the first column.

Proof. — We can decompose $W = W_1 \oplus^{\perp} W_2$, where

$$W_1 \subset \bigoplus_{1 \leq i \leq m}^{\perp} \mathbb{C}e_1^i$$
, and $W_2 \subset \bigoplus_{1 \leq i \leq m}^{\perp} \operatorname{Vect}(e_2^i, \dots, e_n^i)$.

Let $k = \dim W_1$. By the description above of the eigenvalues of $B_0^{\Omega}(X, \cdot)$, we see that W_2 is spanned by p - 1 - k eigenvectors corresponding to the eigenvalues r_i $(1 \leq i \leq m)$.

Let S_1 be the sum of the k smallest of the $2r_i$, and S_2 be the sum of the k-th smallest of the eigenvalues of $-B_0(X, \cdot)$ on W_2 . Then

$$C_p = -B_0(X, X) - \operatorname{Tr} B_0(X, \cdot)|_{W_1} - \operatorname{Tr} B_0(X, \cdot)|_{W_2}$$

$$\geq -B_0(X, X) + S_1 + S_2 = 2\sum_{i \ge i} r_i^2 + S_1 + S_2.$$

The eigenvalues appearing in S_1 and S_2 can be indexed by a subset $\Gamma \subset [\![1,m]\!] \times [\![1,n]\!]$, with k-elements of the first column corresponding to the k-th smallest $2r_i$, and the elements (i, j) to the r_j if $j \ge 2$.

There are two cases to distinguish. First, if $k \leq m-1$, what has just been said shows that $C_p \geq \mathscr{F}(\underline{r}, \Gamma)$.

Now, if k = m - 1, then $\mathbb{C}X \oplus^{\perp} W_1 = \bigoplus_{i=1}^m \mathbb{C} \cdot e_1^i$, so

$$-B_0(X,X) - \operatorname{Tr} B_0(X,\cdot)|_{W_1} = \operatorname{Tr} \left(-B_0(X,\cdot)|_{\bigoplus_{i=1}^m \mathbb{C} \cdot e_1^i} \right)$$
$$= 2.$$

 C_p is equal to the first case of the definition of \mathscr{F} in Definition 9.9, so $C_p = \mathscr{F}(\underline{r}, \Gamma)$.

Lemma 9.19. — We have $\min_{\underline{r},\Gamma} F(\underline{r},\Gamma) \ge C_p$.

Proof. — Let \underline{r} and Γ realizing this minimum. Let W be the (p-1)-dimensional space spanned by the eigenvectors corresponding to the elements of Γ , and let $X = (\sqrt{r_1} e_1^1, \ldots, \sqrt{r_m} e_1^m)$. By Proposition 9.16 (2), we see that $W \subset X^{\perp}$, so if we let $V = \mathbb{C} \oplus W$, we have

$$-\operatorname{Tr} B_0(X,\cdot)|_V = -B_0(X,X) - \operatorname{Tr} B_0(X,\cdot)|_W$$
$$= \mathscr{F}(r,\Gamma).$$

As C_p is defined to be the minimum of the left hand side for all X and V with $\dim V = p$ and $X \in V$ unitary, this shows that $\mathscr{F}(\underline{r}, \Gamma) \ge C_p$.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

Thus, Figure 3 gives the constants C_p with our simplifying normalization. To obtain the table 1, for which the normalization is chosen so that $C_{nm} = 1$, we must replace C_p by C_p/C_{nm} . In our current normalization, we have $C_{nm} = n + 1$ according to the first column of Table 3. This ends the proof of Proposition 9.7.

References

- [AA03] D. ARAPURA & S. ARCHAVA - "Kodaira dimension of symmetric powers", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 131 (2003), no. 5, p. 1369-1372. [ACG11] E. ARBARELLO, M. CORNALBA & P. A. GRIFFITHS - Geometry of algebraic curves II, Grundlehren Math. Wiss., vol. 268, Springer, Berlin, 2011. [BT18] B. BAKKER & J. TSIMERMAN - "The Kodaira dimension of complex hyperbolic manifolds with cusps", Compositio Math. 154 (2018), no. 3, p. 549-564. [BPVdV84] W. BARTH, C. PETERS & A. VAN DE VEN - Compact complex surfaces, Ergeb. Math. Grenzgeb. (3), vol. 4, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984. [Bea83] A. BEAUVILLE – "Variétés kählériennes dont la première classe de Chern est nulle", J. Differential Geom. 18 (1983), no. 4, p. 755-782. [Bea91] , "Systèmes hamiltoniens complètement intégrables associés aux surfaces K3", in Problems in the theory of surfaces and their classification (Cortona, 1988), Sympos. Math., vol. XXXII, Academic Press, London, 1991, p. 25-31. [BK19] G. Bérczi & F. Kirwan – "Non-reductive geometric invariant theory and hyperbolicity", 2019, arXiv:1909.11417. [Bog78] F. A. BOGOMOLOV – "Holomorphic tensors and vector bundles on projective manifolds", Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 42 (1978), no. 6, p. 1227-1287. [Bro17] D. BROTBEK - "On the hyperbolicity of general hypersurfaces", Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 126 (2017), no. 1, p. 1–34. [BD18] D. BROTBEK & L. DARONDEAU - "Complete intersection varieties with ample cotangent bundles", Invent. Math. 212 (2018), no. 3, p. 913–940. [BL00] G. T. BUZZARD & S. Lu – "Algebraic surfaces holomorphically dominable by \mathbb{C}^2 ", Invent. Math. 139 (2000), no. 3, p. 617-659. [Cad21]B. CADOREL - "Subvarieties of quotients of bounded symmetric domains", Math. Ann. (2021), Online, Oct. 23. [CDG19] B. CADOREL, S. DIVERIO & H. GUENANCIA - "On subvarieties of singular quotients of bounded domains", 2019, arXiv:1905.04212. [CRT19] B. CADOREL, E. ROUSSEAU & B. TAJI – "Hyperbolicity of singular spaces", J. Éc. polytech. Math. 6 (2019), p. 1–18. F. CAMPANA - "Orbifolds, special varieties and classification theory", Ann. Inst. Fourier [Cam04] (Grenoble) 54 (2004), no. 3, p. 499-630. [CDR20] F. CAMPANA, L. DARONDEAU & E. ROUSSEAU - "Orbifold hyperbolicity", Compositio Math. 156 (2020), no. 8, p. 1664-1698. [CP07] F. CAMPANA & M. PĂUN – "Variétés faiblement spéciales à courbes entières dégénérées", Compositio Math. 143 (2007), no. 1, p. 95–111. [CW19] F. CAMPANA & J. WINKELMANN - "Dense entire curves in rationally connected manifolds", 2019. arXiv:1905.01104. [Car54] H. CARTAN - "Quotient d'une variété analytique par un groupe discret d'automorphismes", in Fonctions automorphes et espaces analytiques, Séminaire Henri Cartan, vol. 6, Secrétariat mathématique, Paris, 1953/54, Exp. no. 12. J.-L. Colliot-Thélène & J.-J. Sansuc – "The rationality problem for fields of invariants [CTS07] under linear algebraic groups (with special regards to the Brauer group)", in Algebraic
- under linear algebraic groups (with special regards to the Brauer group)", in Algebraic groups and homogeneous spaces, Tata Inst. Fund. Res. Stud. Math., vol. 19, Tata Inst. Fund. Res., Mumbai, 2007, p. 113–186.
- [Dar16] L. DARONDEAU "Slanted vector fields for jet spaces", Math. Z. 282 (2016), no. 1-2, p. 547–575.

J.É.P. – M., 2022, tome 9

J.-P. DEMAILLY – "Algebraic criteria for Kobayashi hyperbolic projective varieties and jet [Dem97a] differentials", in Algebraic geometry (Santa Cruz, 1995), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 62, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1997, p. 285-360. [Dem97b] _, "Variétés hyperboliques et équations différentielles algébriques", Gaz. Math. 73 (1997), p. 3–23. [Dem12] , "Hyperbolic algebraic varieties and holomorphic differential equations", Acta Math. Vietnam. 37 (2012), no. 4, p. 441–512. [Dem20] "Recent results on the Kobayashi and Green-Griffiths-Lang conjectures", Japan. J. Math. 15 (2020), no. 1, p. 1–120. [Den17] Y. DENG - "Effectivity in the hyperbolicity related problems", 2017, arXiv:1606.03831. [DMR10] S. DIVERIO, J. MERKER & E. ROUSSEAU - "Effective algebraic degeneracy", Invent. Math. **180** (2010), no. 1, p. 161–223. [EJR21] A. Etesse, A. JAVANPEYKAR & E. ROUSSEAU - "Algebraic intermediate hyperbolicities", 2021, arXiv:2012.07803. J. FOGARTY - "Algebraic families on an algebraic surface", Amer. J. Math. 90 (1968), [Fog68] p. 511–521. E. FREITAG – "Über die Struktur der Funktionenkörper zu hyperabelschen Gruppen. I", [Fre71] J. reine angew. Math. 247 (1971), p. 97-117. [GHS03] T. GRABER, J. HARRIS & J. STARR - "Families of rationally connected varieties", J. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (2003), no. 1, p. 57-67. [GKKP11] D. GREB, S. KEBEKUS, S. KOVÁCS & T. PETERNELL - "Differential forms on log canonical spaces", Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 114 (2011), p. 87-169. [GG80] M. GREEN & P. A. GRIFFITHS - "Two applications of algebraic geometry to entire holomorphic mappings", in The Chern Symposium (Berkeley, CA, 1979), Springer-Verlag, New York, 1980, p. 41-74. [Gro62] A. GROTHENDIECK – Fondements de la géométrie algébrique, Secrétariat mathématique, Paris, 1962, Extraits du Séminaire Bourbaki, 1957-1962. [HM07] C. D. HACON & J. MCKERNAN - "On Shokurov's rational connectedness conjecture", Duke Math. J. 138 (2007), no. 1, p. 119-136. J. HARRIS & Y. TSCHINKEL - "Rational points on quartics", Duke Math. J. 104 (2000), [HT00a] no. 3. p. 477-500. [HT00b] B. HASSETT & Y. TSCHINKEL - "Abelian fibrations and rational points on symmetric products", Internat. J. Math. 11 (2000), no. 9, p. 1163-1176. , "Density of integral points on algebraic varieties", in Rational points on alge-[HT01] braic varieties, Progress in Math., Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001, p. 169–197. [HT00] J.-M. HWANG & W.-K. To - "On Seshadri constants of canonical bundles of compact quotients of bounded symmetric domains", J. reine angew. Math. 523 (2000), p. 173-197.[Kob98] S. KOBAYASHI – Hyperbolic complex spaces, Grundlehren Math. Wiss., vol. 318, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998. [Lan87] S. LANG - Introduction to complex hyperbolic spaces, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1987. [Lan91] , Number theory III. Diophantine geometry, Encyclopaedia of Math. Sciences, vol. 60, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991. [Laz04] R. LAZARSFELD - Positivity in algebraic geometry, II, Ergeb. Math. Grenzgeb. (3), Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, 2004. [Lev] A. LEVIN - "On the geometric and arithmetic puncturing problems", Personal communication. [Mat68] A. MATTUCK – "The field of multisymmetric functions", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 19 (1968), no. 3, p. 764–765. [MM86] Y. MIYAOKA & S. MORI – "A numerical criterion for uniruledness", Ann. of Math. (2) 124 (1986), no. 1, p. 65-69. [Mok89] N. Mox – Metric rigidity theorems on hermitian locally symmetric manifolds, Series in Pure Math., vol. 6, World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., Teaneck, NJ, 1989.

B. Cadorel, F. Campana & E. Rousseau

[Mok12]	, "Projective algebraicity of minimal compactifications of complex-hyperbolic
	space forms of finite volume", in Perspectives in analysis, geometry, and topology,
	Progress in Math., vol. 296, Birkhäuser/Springer, New York, 2012, p. 331–354.
[Muk84]	S. MUKAI – "Symplectic structure of the moduli space of sheaves on an abelian or K3
	surface", Invent. Math. 77 (1984), no. 1, p. 101–116.
[Mum77]	D. MUMFORD – "Hirzebruch's proportionality theorem in the noncompact case", <i>Invent.</i> Math. 42 (1977), p. 239–272.
[Pop13]	V. L. POPOV – "Rationality and the FML invariant", J. Ramanujan Math. Soc. 28A
[10]	(2013), p. 409–415.
[Rei80]	M. REID - "Canonical 3-folds", in Algebraic Geometry (Angers, 1979), Sijthoff & No-
	ordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn, 1980, p. 273–310.
[RY22]	E. RIEDL & Y. YANG – "Applications of a Grassmannian technique to hyperbolicity, Chow
	equivalency, and Seshadri constants", J. Algebraic Geom. 31 (2022), p. 1–12.
[RTW21]	E. ROUSSEAU, A. TURCHET & J. TY. WANG - "Nonspecial varieties and generalised
	Lang-Vojta conjectures", Forum Math. Sigma 9 (2021), article no. e11 (29 pages).
[SY96]	YT. SIU & S. K. YEUNG – "Hyperbolicity of the complement of a generic smooth curve
	of high degree in the complex projective plane", Invent. Math. 124 (1996), no. 1-3,
	p. 573–618.
[Tai82]	YS. TAI – "On the Kodaira dimension of the moduli space of abelian varieties", Invent.
	<i>Math.</i> 68 (1982), p. 425–439.
[Wei86]	R. WEISSAUER - "Untervarietäten der Siegelschen Modulmannigfaltigkeiten von allge-
	meinem Typ", Math. Ann. 275 (1986), no. 2, p. 207–220.
[Xie18]	SY. XIE – "On the ampleness of the cotangent bundles of complete intersections",
	Invent. Math. 212 (2018), no. 3, p. 941–996.
[Yam04]	K. YAMANOI - "Holomorphic curves in abelian varieties and intersections with higher
	codimensional subvarieties", Forum Math. 16 (2004), no. 5, p. 749–788.

Manuscript received 16th July 2021 accepted 5th February 2022

BENOÎT CADOREL, Institut Élie Cartan de Lorraine, UMR 7502, Université de Lorraine, Site de Nancy B.P. 70239, F-54506 Vandœuvre-lès-Nancy Cedex, France *E-mail* : benoit.cadorel@univ-lorraine.fr

Url:http://www.normalesup.org/~bcadorel/

FRÉDÉRIC CAMPANA, Institut Élie Cartan de Lorraine, UMR 7502, Université de Lorraine, Site de Nancy

B.P. 70239, F-54506 Vandœuvre-lès-Nancy Cedex, France E-mail: frederic.campana@univ-lorraine.fr

 ${\sf Erawan}$ Rousseau, Institut Universitaire de France & Univ
 Brest, CNRS UMR 6205, Laboratoire de Mathématiques de Bretagne Atlantique

6, avenue Victor Le Gorgeu, 29238 Brest Cedex 3, France

E-mail: erwan.rousseau@univ-brest.fr

Url:http://eroussea.perso.math.cnrs.fr/